Published for SISSA by 🖉 Springer

RECEIVED: October 2, 2013 REVISED: February 13, 2014 ACCEPTED: March 14, 2014 PUBLISHED: April 9, 2014

Lie 2-algebra models

Patricia Ritter^a and Christian Sämann^b

^a Centro de Estudios Científicos (CECs), Avenida Arturo Prat 514, Valdivia, Chile
^b Maxwell Institute for Mathematical Sciences, Department of Mathematics, Heriot-Watt University, Colin Maclaurin Building, Riccarton, Edinburgh EH14 4AS, U.K.

E-mail: PRitter@cecs.cl, C.Saemann@hw.ac.uk

ABSTRACT: In this paper, we begin the study of zero-dimensional field theories with fields taking values in a semistrict Lie 2-algebra. These theories contain the IKKT matrix model and various M-brane related models as special cases. They feature solutions that can be interpreted as quantized 2-plectic manifolds. In particular, we find solutions corresponding to quantizations of \mathbb{R}^3 , S^3 and a five-dimensional Hpp-wave. Moreover, by expanding a certain class of Lie 2-algebra models around the solution corresponding to quantized \mathbb{R}^3 , we obtain higher BF-theory on this quantized space.

KEYWORDS: Non-Commutative Geometry, M(atrix) Theories, M-Theory, Matrix Models

ARXIV EPRINT: 1308.4892



doi:10.1007/JHEP04(2014)066



Contents

1	Inti	oduction and motivation	2	
	1.1	Background independence and the IKKT model	2	
	1.2	Lie n -algebras in string theory	4	
	1.3	Our goals in this paper	4	
2	Lie 2-algebras			
	2.1	Semistrict Lie 2-algebras	6	
	2.2	Lie 2-algebra homomorphisms	8	
	2.3	Inner products on semistrict Lie 2-algebras	9	
	2.4	Transposed products	10	
	2.5	M2-brane model 3-algebras	12	
3	Quantized symplectic and 2-plectic manifolds			
	3.1	Quantization of symplectic manifolds	13	
	3.2	2-plectic manifolds	14	
	3.3	Examples	15	
	3.4	Reduction of 2-plectic to symplectic manifolds	17	
	3.5	Lie 2-algebras not originating from 2-plectic manifolds	19	
	3.6	Quantization	21	
	3.7	Representation of the Heisenberg Lie 2-algebra	22	
4	Homogeneous Lie 2-algebra models			
	4.1	Homogeneous Lie 2-algebra models and the various inner products	23	
	4.2	Symmetries of the models	24	
	4.3	Reduction to the IKKT model and quantized symplectic manifolds	25	
	4.4	Solutions corresponding to quantized 2-plectic manifolds	27	
	4.5	Examples of quantized categorified Poisson manifolds as solutions	28	
5	Inhomogeneous Lie 2-algebra models			
	5.1	Dimensionally reduced M2-brane models	30	
	5.2	Background expansion for higher gauge theory	31	
	5.3	Background expansion using an isomorphic Lie 2-algebra structure	33	
6	Cor	nclusions	34	
\mathbf{A}	Use	ful definitions	36	
в	Gauge symmetry in semistrict higher gauge theory			

1 Introduction and motivation

One of the fundamental problems in theoretical physics today is the construction of theories that are formulated without reference to any specific space-time geometry. In such background independent models, space-time is expected to emerge from the dynamics of the theory, for example as vacuum configurations. A good example of such a theory is the IKKT matrix model [1], which was conjectured to provide a non-perturbative and background independent formulation of superstring theory. This model arises as a finite regularization of the type IIB superstring in Schild gauge. It is a zero-dimensional theory, in which fields take values in a (matrix) Lie algebra.

It has become more and more evident that many of the algebraic structures underlying string and M-theory are not Lie algebras but rather extensions of Lie algebras which are known as strong homotopy Lie algebras or L_{∞} -algebras. In particular, regularizations of the membrane action yield models with fields taking values in truncated, 2-term L_{∞} algebras. It is therefore desirable to study generalized IKKT-like models, in which fields can take values in strong homotopy Lie algebras. The purpose of this paper is to initiate such a study.

To keep our models manageable, we will restrict ourselves to the 2-term strong homotopy Lie algebras, which are categorically equivalent to semistrict Lie 2-algebras.¹ These algebras feature prominently in higher gauge theories which seem to underlie M-brane models, and a subclass of these form the gauge structure of the recently popular M2brane models [2–4]. This is to be seen in analogy to the conventional Lie algebras of the IKKT model underlying the gauge theories arising in the effective description of D-brane configurations in string theory.

This paper is structured as follows. In the remainder of this section, we will give a more detailed motivation for studying Lie 2-algebra models. We then review relevant definitions of Lie 2-algebras and discuss various notions of inner products on them in section 2. Section 3 makes contact with the quantization of 2-plectic manifolds. Homogeneous and inhomogeneous Lie 2-algebra models are then discussed in section 4 and section 5, respectively. We present our conclusions in section 6. Two appendices summarize useful definitions and review the gauge symmetry of semistrict higher gauge theory for the reader's convenience.

1.1 Background independence and the IKKT model

As stated above, it is an important goal to construct and study background independent theories to replace our mostly background dependent formulations of string theory. A straightforward method for eliminating the background geometry from any field theory is to dimensionally reduce it to a point. If the fields in the original theory took values in a Lie algebra and its adjoint representation, one is left with a matrix model.

Matrix models have indeed contributed greatly to the understanding of non-perturbative phenomena in string theory. This started with the Hermitian matrix models describ-

¹In this paper, we will use the terms "Lie 2-algebra" and "2-vector spaces" rather freely. Unless stated otherwise, we will use them to refer to 2-term strong homotopy Lie algebras and 2-term chain complexes of vector spaces, respectively.

ing c < 1 string theory [5] and continued with the success of the IKKT matrix model [1], see also [6].

The IKKT model is obtained by regularizing the Green-Schwarz action of the type IIB superstring in Schild gauge,

$$S = \int d^2 \sigma \sqrt{g} \alpha \left(\frac{1}{4} \{ X_\mu, X_\nu \}^2 - \frac{i}{2} \bar{\psi} \Gamma^\mu \{ X_\mu, \psi \} \right) + \beta \sqrt{g} . \tag{1.1}$$

In this regularization, the worldsheet fields X_{μ} and ψ are replaced by hermitian matrices A_{μ} and ψ , while the integral becomes a trace and the Poisson bracket $\{-, -\}$ is turned into the commutator -i[-, -]. Note that this process is standard in noncommutative field theory and the result is the following:

$$S_{\rm IKKT} = \alpha \, {\rm tr} \, \left(-\frac{1}{4} \, [A_{\mu}, A_{\nu}]^2 - \frac{1}{2} \, \bar{\psi} \Gamma^{\mu}[A_{\mu}, \psi] + \beta \, \mathbb{I} \right) \,. \tag{1.2}$$

Alternatively, one can obtain the IKKT model by dimensionally reducing maximally supersymmetric Yang-Mills theory in ten dimensions to a point. The fields A_{μ} and ψ here take values in the gauge algebra of the ten-dimensional theory.

As equations of motion of the action (1.2), we have

$$[A_{\mu}, [A^{\mu}, A^{\nu}]] - \frac{i}{2} \Gamma^{\nu}_{\alpha\beta} \{\psi^{\beta}, \bar{\psi}^{\alpha}\} = 0,$$

$$\Gamma^{\mu}_{\alpha\beta} [A_{\mu}, \psi^{\beta}] = 0.$$
(1.3)

Amongst the solutions to these equations are matrices A_m , m = 1, ..., 2d, that we can identify with the generators \hat{x}^m of the Heisenberg algebra $[\hat{x}^m, \hat{x}^n] = i\theta^{mn}\mathbb{1}$. The generators \hat{x}^m are the coordinate functions on the Moyal space \mathbb{R}^{2d}_{θ} , and this is the most prominent example of a geometry emerging as the vacuum configuration of the IKKT model. Expanding the action (1.2) around this background solution as $A_m = \hat{x}_m + \hat{A}_m$, we obtain Yang-Mills theory on noncommutative \mathbb{R}^{2d}_{θ} [7]. The action (1.2) therefore simultaneously provides the background and the dynamics of the theory.

More general noncommutative geometries are obtained as vacuum solutions of deformations of the IKKT model. A particularly interesting class of deformations comprise mass-terms as well as a cubic potential term,

$$S_{\rm def} = S_{\rm IKKT} + \, {\rm tr} \, \left(-\frac{1}{2} \sum_{\mu} m_{1,\mu}^2 A_{\mu} A_{\mu} + \frac{i}{2} m_2 \bar{\psi} \psi + c_{\mu\nu\kappa} A^{\mu} A^{\nu} A^{\kappa} \right) \,, \tag{1.4}$$

where $c_{\mu\nu\kappa}$ is some background tensor field, cf. [8]. This action has classical configurations corresponding to fuzzy spheres and the space \mathbb{R}^3_{λ} , which is a discrete foliation of \mathbb{R}^3 by fuzzy spheres, as well as noncommutative Hpp waves, see [9] and references therein.

Finally, note that in a very similar manner in which a background expansion of the IKKT model yields Yang-Mills theories on noncommutative spaces, one can also obtain models of gravity, see e.g. [10].

1.2 Lie *n*-algebras in string theory

Lie 2-algebras arise in the categorification of the notion of a Lie algebra. In this process, the vector space underlying the Lie algebra is replaced by a category. Furthermore, the standard structural equations of a Lie algebra, which state that the Lie bracket is anti-symmetric and satisfies a Jacobi identity, are lifted in a controlled way and hold only up to an isomorphism in this category. Lie *n*-algebras arise analogously by *n*-fold, iterative categorification of Lie algebras. In the semistrict case, which is the one we will consider exclusively in this paper, Lie *n*-algebras are equivalent to truncated *n*-term strong homotopy Lie or L_{∞} -algebras, which are also known as L_n -algebras.

Strong homotopy Lie algebras and in particular their truncated versions appear in a variety of contexts related to string theory, for example:

- ▷ Strong homotopy Lie algebras arise in string field theory, cf. [11, 12], as well as in Kontsevich's deformation quantization.
- ▷ Lie 2-algebras appear in topological open M2-brane actions in the form of Courant Lie 2-algebraids [13].
- ▷ Special Lie 2-algebras, which are known as differential crossed modules, form the gauge structure of the recently popular M2-brane models [2–4] as shown in [14].
- ▷ The full M2-brane action is coupled to the C-field of supergravity and is thus expected to be related to parallel transport of two-dimensional objects, which has an underlying Lie 3-algebra [15].
- ▷ Interactions of M5-branes are mediated by M2-branes ending on them and their boundaries are one-dimensional objects known as self-dual strings. It is natural to assume that an effective description of M5-branes yields a higher gauge theory describing the parallel transport of these self-dual strings. The gauge structure of such a higher gauge theory is described by a Lie 2-algebra, cf. [16].
- ▷ Equations of motion of interacting non-abelian superconformal field theories in six dimensions have been derived using twistor spaces in [17, 18]. These constructions again make use of the framework of higher gauge theory, employing Lie 2- and 3-algebras.

1.3 Our goals in this paper

We saw above that the Lie algebras describing gauge symmetries in effective descriptions of D-branes within string theory are replaced by Lie 2-algebras in M-theory. It is therefore natural to suspect that a potential non-perturbative description of M-theory along the lines of the IKKT model may be based on Lie 2-algebras.

In this paper, we perform an initial study of zero-dimensional field theories in which the fields take values in a Lie 2-algebra. We discuss the mathematical notions required in the description of Lie 2-algebra models, put them into context and test how far the analogies with the IKKT model reach. Throughout this paper, we will distinguish two types of models. First, there are homogeneous Lie 2-algebra models, in which the fields $\{X^a\}$ take values in the direct sum of the two vector spaces V and W that underlie a Lie 2-algebra. In the *inhomogeneous models*, we have two types of fields $\{X^a\}$ and $\{Y^i\}$, where the X^a take values in V while the Y^i take values in W. Note that homogeneous models form a subset of the inhomogeneous models.

Since semistrict Lie 2-algebras contain ordinary Lie algebras, homogeneous Lie 2algebra models will trivially contain the IKKT model as a special case. Moreover, Lie 2-algebras contain the 3-algebras appearing in M2-brane models, and we therefore also expect our Lie 2-algebra models to contain the 3-algebra models discussed previously in [19–23] and [9].

In [19], the author followed the logic of the IKKT model, starting from a Schild-type action of the M2-brane [24],

$$S = T_{M2} \int d^3 \sigma \{X^M, X^N, X^K\}^2, \quad M, N, K = 0, \dots, 10.$$
 (1.5)

He then suggested to regularize this action by replacing the Nambu-bracket by that of a 3-Lie algebra. Note that it has often been suggested that, at quantum level, Nambu-Poisson structures should turn into 3-Lie algebras, see [25] and references therein. To a certain extent, one can even make the resulting action supersymmetric,² and the result is [21, 23]

 $S_{3\text{LA}} = \langle [X^M, X^N, X^K], [X^M, X^N, X^K] \rangle + \langle \bar{\Psi}, \Gamma_{MN}[X^M, X^N, \Psi] \rangle, \qquad (1.6)$

where Ψ is a Majorana spinor of SO(1, 10). A very similar model has been studied in [26] as a matrix model for the description of multiple M5-branes.

Alternatively, one can obtain a zero-dimensional action with fields living in a 3-Lie algebra by dimensionally reducing the M2-brane models to a point. The case of the BLG-model was discussed in [9], where various solutions have been interpreted as quantized Nambu-Poisson manifolds. Compared to (1.6), there are additional scalar fields present, living in the inner derivations of the underlying 3-Lie algebra that arise from the dimensional reduction of the Chern-Simons part and the covariant couplings to the matter fields. While there is now a dichotomy of fields compared to (1.6), the resulting action is invariant under 16 supercharges. Moreover, applying a dimensionally reduced form of the Higgs mechanism proposed in [27], this action reduces to (1.4) in the strong coupling limit as shown in [9].

An important feature of the IKKT model is that familiar examples of quantized symplectic manifolds arise as solutions of the classical equations of motion. Correspondingly, we expect that "higher quantized" manifolds arise as solutions of our Lie 2-algebra models. There are essentially two approaches in the literature of how to extend geometric quantization to a higher setting. First, we can focus on the Poisson structure and generalize this structure to a Nambu-Poisson structure. The geometric quantization of Nambu-Poisson manifolds, however, is problematic and the answers obtained in this context are not very satisfying, see [25] and references therein. The second approach focuses on extending the

 $^{^{2}}$ Full supersymmetry, however, seems to be possible only for four scalar fields with a metric of split signature [23].

symplectic structure to a 2-plectic one, which yields a Lie 2-algebra of Hamiltonian 1forms on the manifold. This is by now a fairly standard construction in multisymplectic geometry [28, 29]. Quantizing the 2-plectic manifold amounts here to quantizing the Lie 2-algebra of Hamiltonian 1-forms. While more appealing than the first one, this approach has its own shortcomings, and a more detailed discussion is found in section 3.6. Here it is important to note that this point of view is clearly very suitable for our purposes, and we expect that quantized versions of Lie 2-algebras of Hamiltonian 1-forms yield solutions to the classical equations of motion of our Lie 2-algebra models.

From this perspective, our Lie 2-algebra models are a good testing ground for the extension of the notion of a space. In noncommutative geometry, the first step in such an extension is made by replacing the commutative product in the algebra of functions by a noncommutative one. The next step is to generalize this to a nonassociative product, which requires the use of 2-term L_{∞} - and A_{∞} -algebras. Ultimately, the notion of a commutative algebra of functions on a manifold should be generalized to that of a certain type of operad or an even more general mathematical structure.

2 Lie 2-algebras

Lie 2-algebras are categorified versions of Lie algebras. While categorification is not a unique or straightforward recipe, the procedure is roughly the following: most mathematical notions are based on spaces endowed with extra structure satisfying certain basic equations. To categorify such a notion, replace the spaces with categories and endow them with extra structure given by functors that satisfy the basic equations up to an isomorphism. The isomorphisms, in turn, have to satisfy reasonable coherence equations. In the case of Lie algebras, one thus obtains the *weak Lie 2-algebras* [30]: the linear space underlying the Lie algebra gets replaced by a linear category. We demand that we have a Lie bracket functor on this category, but it is antisymmetric and satisfies the Jacobi identity only up to isomorphisms. These isomorphisms are called the alternator and the Jacobiator, respectively.

Demanding that the alternator is trivial, which implies that the categorified Lie bracket is antisymmetric, one obtains the so-called *semistrict Lie 2-algebras*. It is these that we will be considering in this paper. They are particularly nice to work with, as they are categorically equivalent to 2-term L_{∞} -algebras, cf. [31].

One can go one step further and demand that the Jacobi identity is satisfied, too. In this case, one ends up with *strict Lie 2-algebras*, which can be identified with differential crossed modules [32]. Although most of the structural generalizations of categories have been lost at this point, strict Lie 2-algebras are still interesting. For example, they underlie the definition of non-abelian gerbes, see e.g. [16]. Moreover, when endowed with a metric, they contain all the 3-algebras that have appeared recently in M2-brane models [14].

2.1 Semistrict Lie 2-algebras

As stated above, semistrict Lie 2-algebras are categorically equivalent to 2-term L_{∞} algebras, and we can relatively easily specify their structure in terms of vector spaces. The general definition of an L_{∞} -algebra is recalled for the reader's convenience in appendix A. A 2-term L_{∞} -algebra is given by a two-term complex of real³ vector spaces,

$$V \xrightarrow{\mu_1} W \xrightarrow{\mu_1} 0, \qquad (2.1)$$

where gradings -1 and 0 are assigned to elements of V and W, respectively. This complex is equipped with unary, binary and ternary totally graded antisymmetric and multilinear "products" μ_1 , μ_2 and μ_3 satisfying the following higher homotopy relations:

$$\mu_{1}(w) = 0, \qquad \mu_{2}(v_{1}, v_{2}) = 0,$$

$$\mu_{1}(\mu_{2}(w, v)) = \mu_{2}(w, \mu_{1}(v)), \qquad \mu_{2}(\mu_{1}(v_{1}), v_{2}) = \mu_{2}(v_{1}, \mu_{1}(v_{2})),$$

$$\mu_{3}(v_{1}, v_{2}, v_{3}) = \mu_{3}(v_{1}, v_{2}, w) = \mu_{3}(v_{1}, w_{1}, w_{2}) = 0, \qquad (2.2a)$$

$$\mu_{1}(\mu_{3}(w_{1}, w_{2}, w_{3})) = -\mu_{2}(\mu_{2}(w_{1}, w_{2}), w_{3}) - \mu_{2}(\mu_{2}(w_{3}, w_{1}), w_{2}) - \mu_{2}(\mu_{2}(w_{2}, w_{3}), w_{1}),$$

$$\mu_{3}(\mu_{1}(v), w_{1}, w_{2}) = -\mu_{2}(\mu_{2}(w_{1}, w_{2}), v) - \mu_{2}(\mu_{2}(v, w_{1}), w_{2}) - \mu_{2}(\mu_{2}(w_{2}, v), w_{1})$$

and

$$\mu_{2}(\mu_{3}(w_{1}, w_{2}, w_{3}), w_{4}) - \mu_{2}(\mu_{3}(w_{4}, w_{1}, w_{2}), w_{3}) + \mu_{2}(\mu_{3}(w_{3}, w_{4}, w_{1}), w_{2}) - \mu_{2}(\mu_{3}(w_{2}, w_{3}, w_{4}), w_{1}) = \mu_{3}(\mu_{2}(w_{1}, w_{2}), w_{3}, w_{4}) - \mu_{3}(\mu_{2}(w_{2}, w_{3}), w_{4}, w_{1}) + \mu_{3}(\mu_{2}(w_{3}, w_{4}), w_{1}, w_{2}) - \mu_{3}(\mu_{2}(w_{4}, w_{1}), w_{2}, w_{3}) - \mu_{3}(\mu_{2}(w_{1}, w_{3}), w_{2}, w_{4}) - \mu_{3}(\mu_{2}(w_{2}, w_{4}), w_{1}, w_{3}),$$

$$(2.2b)$$

where $v, v_i \in V$ and $w, w_i \in W$.

Besides the above product, we also introduce the product $\kappa_2: V \times V \to V$ with

$$\kappa_2(v_1, v_2) := \mu_2(\mu_1(v_1), v_2) = -\mu_2(\mu_1(v_2), v_1) = -\kappa_2(v_2, v_1) .$$
(2.3)

A simple example of a semistrict Lie 2-algebra is the following one [31], which we will denote by $(\mathfrak{g}, V, \rho, c)$: as two-term complex, we take $V \to \mathfrak{g}$, where \mathfrak{g} is a finite-dimensional real Lie algebra and V is a vector space carrying a representation ρ of \mathfrak{g} . The non-vanishing products are given by

$$\mu_2(g_1, g_2) := [g_1, g_2], \quad \mu_2(g, v) = -\mu_2(v, g) := \rho(g)v, \quad \mu_3(g_1, g_2, g_3) = c(g_1, g_2, g_3), \quad (2.4)$$

where $g \in \mathfrak{g}, v \in V$ and $c \in H^3(\mathfrak{g}, V)$. Since μ_1 is trivial, isomorphic objects in the category corresponding to this Lie 2-algebra are identical. Such Lie 2-algebras are called *skeletal*.

Any semistrict Lie 2-algebra is in fact categorically equivalent to a skeletal one, and all skeletal semistrict Lie 2-algebras are equivalent to one of the form $(\mathfrak{g}, V, \rho, c)$ ([31], Thm. 55). This fact can be used to classify Lie 2-algebras.

If $V = \mathbb{R}$ then an interesting example of a Lie-algebra cocycle is given by $c(g_1, g_2, g_3) = k\langle g_1, [g_2, g_3] \rangle$, where $\langle -, - \rangle$ is the Killing form and $k \in \mathbb{R}$. The resulting semistrict Lie 2-algebra is also called the string Lie 2-algebra of \mathfrak{g} .

Other examples are given by the Lie 2-algebra of Hamiltonian 1-forms on 2-plectic manifolds, and we describe these in detail in section 3.2.

³To simplify the notation for inner products later on, we restrict ourselves to real vector spaces.

If the Jacobiator μ_3 in a semistrict Lie 2-algebra vanishes, we arrive at a *strict Lie* 2-algebra or, equivalently, a *differential crossed module*: both μ_2 and κ_2 now satisfy the Jacobi identity, and we have a two-term complex of Lie algebras $V \xrightarrow{\mu_1} W$ with an action $\triangleright W \times V \to V : w \triangleright v := \mu_2(w, v)$ satisfying

$$\mu_1(w \triangleright v) = [w, \mu_1(v)] \quad \text{and} \quad \mu_1(v_1) \triangleright v_2 = [v_1, v_2],$$
(2.5)

for all $v \in V$ and $w \in W$, where the commutators are identified with μ_2 on W and κ_2 on V.

The simplest examples of strict Lie 2-algebras are the gauge algebras of $\mathfrak{u}(1)$ -bundles and $\mathfrak{u}(1)$ -gerbes: the Lie algebra $\mathfrak{u}(1)$ can be regarded as a Lie 2-algebra⁴ (* $\xrightarrow{\mu_1} \mathfrak{u}(1), \triangleright$), where $\mu_1(*) = 0 \in \mathfrak{u}(1)$ and \triangleright is trivial. The gauge algebra of a $\mathfrak{u}(1)$ -gerbe is the Lie 2-algebra $\mathfrak{bu}(1) = (\mathfrak{u}(1) \xrightarrow{\mu_1} *, \triangleright)$, where μ_1 and \triangleright are trivial. A non-abelian example is the derivation Lie 2-algebra $\mathsf{Der}(\mathfrak{g})$ of a Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} , ($\mathfrak{g} \xrightarrow{\mathrm{ad}} \mathsf{der}(\mathfrak{g}), \triangleright$), where $\mathsf{der}(\mathfrak{g})$ are the derivations of the Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} , ad is the embedding of \mathfrak{g} as inner derivations via the adjoint map, and \triangleright is the natural action of derivations of \mathfrak{g} onto \mathfrak{g} .

2.2 Lie 2-algebra homomorphisms

To analyze symmetries in our models, we will require the notion of a homomorphism between Lie 2-algebras. Such a homomorphism should preserve both the vector space structure as well as the higher products. However, as we are working in a categorified setting, we will require the higher products to be preserved only up to an isomorphism. The appropriate definition for Lie 2-algebras has been developed in ([31], Def. 23). Translated to the equivalent 2-term L_{∞} -algebras, we have the following definition ([31], Def. 34).

An L_{∞} -homomorphisms $\Psi : L \to L'$ between two 2-term L_{∞} -algebras $L = V \to W$ and $L' = V' \to W'$ is defined as a set of maps

$$\Psi_{-1}: V \to V', \quad \Psi_0: W \to W', \quad \Psi_2: W \times W \to V', \tag{2.6}$$

where Ψ_{-1} and Ψ_0 form a linear chain map and Ψ_2 is a skew-symmetric bilinear map preserving the higher product structure. That is, for $w, w_i \in W$ and $v, v_i \in V$, the following hold:

$$\Psi_{0}(\mu_{2}(w_{1},w_{2})) = \mu_{2}(\Psi_{0}(w_{1}),\Psi_{0}(w_{2})) + \mu_{1}(\Psi_{2}(w_{1},w_{2})),
\Psi_{-1}(\mu_{2}(w,v)) = \mu_{2}(\Psi_{0}(w),\Psi_{-1}(v)) + \Psi_{2}(w,\mu_{1}(v)),
\mu_{3}(\Psi_{0}(w_{1}),\Psi_{0}(w_{2}),\Psi_{0}(w_{3})) = \Psi_{-1}(\mu_{3}(w_{1},w_{2},w_{3})) - [\Psi_{2}(w_{1},\mu_{2}(w_{2},w_{3})) + \mu_{2}(\Psi_{0}(w_{1}),\Psi_{2}(w_{2},w_{3})) + \text{cyclic}(w_{1},w_{2},w_{3})].$$
(2.7)

Two homomorphisms $\Psi : L \to L'$ and $\Phi : L' \to L''$ can be combined via the composition rules

$$(\Psi \circ \Phi)_0(w) = \Psi_0 \Phi_0(w), \qquad (2.8a)$$

$$(\Psi \circ \Phi)_{-1}(v) = \Psi_{-1}\Phi_{-1}(v), \qquad (2.8b)$$

$$(\Psi \circ \Phi)_2(w_1, w_2) = \Psi_{-1} \Phi_2(w_1, w_2) + \Psi_2(\Phi_0(w_1), \Phi_0(w_2)) \quad .$$
(2.8c)

⁴Here and in the following, * denotes the trivial Lie algebra $\{0\}$.

The identity automorphism $\mathrm{Id}_L: L \to L$ is given by the maps

$$(\mathrm{id}_L)_0(w) = w$$
, $(\mathrm{id}_L)_{-1} = v$, $(\mathrm{id}_L)_2(w_1, w_2) = 0$. (2.9)

The inverse to an automorphism $\Phi : L \to L$ under the composition \circ given in (2.8) is indicated by $\Phi^{-1\circ} : L \to L$. It satisfies $\Phi^{-1\circ} \circ \Phi = \Phi \circ \Phi^{-1\circ} = \mathrm{id}_L$, and is made of three maps given by

$$(\Phi^{-1\circ})_0(w) = (\Phi_0)^{-1}(w), \qquad (2.10a)$$

$$(\Phi^{-1\circ})_{-1}(v) = (\Phi_{-1})^{-1}(v), \qquad (2.10b)$$

$$(\Phi^{-1\circ})_2(w_1, w_2) = -(\Phi_{-1})^{-1} \left(\Phi_2 \left((\Phi_0)^{-1}(w_1), (\Phi_0)^{-1}(w_2) \right) \right) .$$
 (2.10c)

For more details on morphisms between semistrict Lie 2-algebras see for instance [31, 33].

2.3 Inner products on semistrict Lie 2-algebras

Let us now discuss the notion of an inner product on semistrict Lie 2-algebras, which we will need to write down action functionals. Naturally, an inner product on a semistrict Lie 2algebra should originate from an inner product on its underlying Baez-Crans 2-vector space. Moreover, it should be compatible with certain actions of Lie 2-algebra homomorphisms. And finally, as we want to be able to reproduce dimensionally reduced M2-brane models, we allow for indefinite scalar products, cf. appendix A.

Unfortunately, there are at least three different notions of inner product that satisfy these properties. First, there is a scalar product on L_{∞} -algebras⁵ that was used in [11] and [34], see also [35] and [36]. Given an L_{∞} -algebra $L = \bigoplus_i L_i$, a *(cyclic) scalar product* $\langle -, - \rangle_{\infty}$ on L is a non-degenerate, even, bilinear form that is compatible with all the homotopy products μ_n , $n \in \mathbb{N}^*$. Explicitly, we have

$$\langle x_1, x_2 \rangle_{\infty} = (-1)^{\tilde{x}_1 + \tilde{x}_2} \langle x_2, x_1 \rangle_{\infty} .$$

$$\langle \mu_n(x_1, \dots, x_n), x_0 \rangle_{\infty} = (-1)^{n + \tilde{x}_0(\tilde{x}_1 + \dots + \tilde{x}_n)} \langle \mu_n(x_0, \dots, x_{n-1}), x_n \rangle_{\infty} ,$$

$$(2.11)$$

 $x_i \in L$. Adapted to 2-term L_{∞} -algebras, it follows that a *cyclic scalar product* on a semistrict Lie 2-algebra $V \longrightarrow W$ is a scalar product $\langle -, - \rangle_{\infty}$ on $V \oplus W$, which satisfies the following conditions.

(i) It is even symmetric, that is:

$$\langle v_1, v_2 \rangle_{\infty} = \langle v_2, v_1 \rangle_{\infty}, \quad \langle w_1, w_2 \rangle_{\infty} = \langle w_2, w_1 \rangle_{\infty}, \quad \langle v, w \rangle_{\infty} = \langle w, v \rangle_{\infty} = 0.$$
(2.12)

(ii) It is cyclically graded symmetric with respect to μ_2 and cyclically graded antisymmetric with respect to μ_1 and μ_3 , which implies

$$\langle \mu_1(v), w \rangle_{\infty} = \langle \mu_2(v_1, w), v_2 \rangle_{\infty} = \langle \mu_3(w_1, w_2, w_3), v \rangle_{\infty} = 0 .$$
 (2.13)

We thus see that this kind of inner product is very restrictive.

⁵This definition of a scalar product extends to other ∞ -algebras. Moreover, it corresponds to the notion of a binary invariant polynomial of the L_{∞} -algebra.

Another metric $\langle -, - \rangle_{\text{red}}$ was introduced on *reduced* semistrict Lie 2-algebras, where μ_1 is injective [33]. In this case, V can be regarded as a subspace of W and the domain and range of all products collapse to W. One can then impose the following invariance conditions

$$\langle \mu_2(w_1, w_2), w_3 \rangle_{\text{red}} + \langle w_2, \mu_2(w_1, w_3) \rangle_{\text{red}} = 0, \langle \mu_1(\mu_3(w_1, w_2, w_3)), w_4 \rangle_{\text{red}} + \langle w_3, \mu_1(\mu_3(w_1, w_2, w_4)) \rangle_{\text{red}} = 0.$$

$$(2.14)$$

While the latter equation is very reminiscent of the fundamental identity for 3-Lie algebras, cf. appendix A, focusing on reduced semistrict Lie 2-algebras is a severe restriction. In particular, it excludes the semistrict (and strict) Lie 2-algebra $\mathfrak{bu}(1) = \mathfrak{u}(1) \rightarrow \ast$, which is the gauge 2-algebra of an abelian gerbe. Moreover, it will collide with the semistrict Lie 2-algebra structures obtained on 2-plectic manifolds in section 3.2.

The final metric we want to consider arises from extending the definition on strict Lie 2-algebras to the semistrict case, cf. e.g. [14, 32, 37]. On a semistrict Lie 2-algebra $V \oplus W$, an inner product is an even and graded symmetric bilinear map $\langle -, -\rangle_0$ such that

$$\langle v_1, v_2 \rangle_0 = \langle v_2, v_1 \rangle_0, \quad \langle w_1, w_2 \rangle_0 = \langle w_2, w_1 \rangle_0, \quad \langle v, w \rangle_0 = \langle w, v \rangle_0 = 0, \langle \mu_2(w_1, x_1), x_2 \rangle_0 + \langle x_1, \mu_2(w_1, x_2) \rangle_0 = 0$$
 (2.15)

for all $v_i \in V$, $w_i \in W$ and $x_i \in V \oplus W$. We will call this inner product the *minimally invariant* inner product. Note that demanding $\langle \mu_2(x_3, x_1), x_2 \rangle_0 + \langle x_1, \mu_2(x_3, x_2) \rangle_0 = 0$ in general is too restrictive, as this would imply that $\mu_2(v_1, w_1) = 0$ due to $\langle \mu_2(v_1, w_1), v_2 \rangle_0 + \langle w_1, \mu_2(v_1, v_2) \rangle_0 = 0$. Note furthermore that the above relations automatically imply that

$$\langle \kappa_2(x_1, x_2), x_3 \rangle_0 + \langle x_2, \kappa_2(x_1, x_3) \rangle_0 = 0$$
. (2.16)

Besides matching the natural definition of an inner product on differential crossed modules, this definition includes also natural inner products on the semistrict Lie 2-algebras $(\mathfrak{g}, V, \rho, c)$ if \mathfrak{g} is the Lie algebra of metric preserving transformations on V. And finally, it will turn out to match the natural metrics on semistrict Lie 2-algebras arising from 2-plectic manifolds.

2.4 Transposed products

To facilitate computations with metric semistrict Lie 2-algebras, it is useful to introduce "transposed products" μ_n^* for each μ_n . These products are defined by regarding the products as operators acting on the element in the last slot and taking the dual:

$$\langle \mu_{1}(y_{1}), y_{2} \rangle =: \langle y_{1}, \mu_{1}^{*}(y_{2}) \rangle , \langle \mu_{2}(x_{1}, y_{1}), y_{2} \rangle =: \langle y_{1}, \mu_{2}^{*}(x_{1}, y_{2}) \rangle , \langle \kappa_{2}(x_{1}, y_{1}), y_{2} \rangle =: \langle y_{1}, \kappa_{2}^{*}(x_{1}, y_{2}) \rangle ,$$

$$\langle \mu_{3}(x_{1}, x_{2}, y_{1}), y_{2} \rangle =: \langle y_{1}, \mu_{3}^{*}(x_{1}, x_{2}, y_{2}) \rangle$$

$$(2.17)$$

for all $x_i, y_i \in V \oplus W$. The product μ_1^* had already been introduced in [32] and used extensively in [14]. Note that μ_3^* is not antisymmetric.

Let us examine the transposed products for each of the inner products in more detail. First, in the case of ∞ -metrics $\langle -, - \rangle_{\infty}$, the only non-vanishing transposed product is

$$\mu_2^*(w_1, w_2) = -\mu_2(w_1, w_2) . (2.18)$$

In the case of metric $\langle -, - \rangle_{red}$, we have

$$\mu_2(w_1, w_2) = -\mu_2^*(w_1, w_2)$$
 and $\kappa_2^*(w_1, w_2) = -\kappa_2(w_1, w_2)$ (2.19)

for all $w_1, w_2 \in W$. These are the only two transposed products that are needed, since here one really only has to deal with the metric on W.

For the metric $\langle -, - \rangle_0$, we have more generally

$$\mu_2(w,x) = -\mu_2^*(w,x) \tag{2.20}$$

for all $w \in W$ and $x \in V \oplus W$, which, together with $\kappa_2^*(x, y) = \mu_2^*(\mu_1(x), y)$, implies that

$$\kappa_2^*(v_1, v_2) = -\kappa_2(v_1, v_2) . \tag{2.21}$$

The transposed products that cannot be reduced to the products in the Lie 2-algebra are

$$\mu_1^*: W \to V, \quad \mu_2^*: V \times V \to W \quad \text{and} \quad \mu_3^*: W \times W \times V \to W, \quad (2.22)$$

which have degrees -1, 2 and 1, respectively. They are defined implicitly via

$$\langle \mu_1(v_1), w_1 \rangle_0 =: \langle v_1, \mu_2^*(w_1) \rangle_0, \quad \langle \mu_2(v_1, w), v_2 \rangle_0 =: \langle w, \mu_2^*(v_1, v_2) \rangle_0, \\ \langle \mu_3(w_1, w_2, w_3), v \rangle_0 =: \langle w_3, \mu_3^*(w_1, w_2, v) \rangle_0.$$

$$(2.23)$$

To simplify notation, we will only denote these three with a star from here on.

Combining our definitions with the homotopy algebra relations, we obtain the following set of equalities:

$$\mu_{2}(\mu_{1}(v_{1}), v_{2}) = \mu_{2}(v_{1}, \mu_{1}(v_{2})) = \mu_{1}^{*}(\mu_{2}^{*}(v_{2}, v_{1})),$$

$$\mu_{2}(\mu_{1}(v), w) = \mu_{1}(\mu_{2}(v, w)) = \mu_{2}^{*}(\mu_{1}^{*}(w), v),$$

$$\mu_{1}^{*}(\mu_{2}(w_{1}, w_{2})) = \mu_{2}(\mu_{1}^{*}(w_{1}), w_{2}) = \mu_{2}(\mu_{1}^{*}(w_{2}), w_{1}),$$

$$\mu_{1}^{*}(\mu_{3}^{*}(w_{1}, w_{2}, v)) = -\mu_{3}(\mu_{1}(v), w_{1}, w_{2}),$$

$$\mu_{1}(\mu_{3}(w_{1}, w_{2}, w_{3})) = -\mu_{3}^{*}(w_{1}, w_{2}, \mu_{1}^{*}(w_{3})),$$

$$\mu_{3}^{*}(\mu_{1}(v_{1}), w, v_{2}) = -\mu_{3}^{*}(\mu_{1}(v_{2}), w, v_{1}),$$

$$\mu_{3}^{*}(\mu_{1}(v_{1}), w, v_{2}) = \mu_{2}^{*}(v_{1}, \mu_{2}(w, v_{2})) - \mu_{2}^{*}(v_{2}, \mu_{2}(w, v_{1})) - \mu_{2}(w, \mu_{2}^{*}(v_{1}, v_{2}),$$
(2.24)

as well as

$$\mu_{2}(w_{1}, \mu_{3}^{*}(w_{2}, w_{3}, v)) + \mu_{2}(w_{3}, \mu_{3}^{*}(w_{1}, w_{2}, v)) + \mu_{2}(w_{2}, \mu_{3}^{*}(w_{3}, w_{1}, v)) = \mu_{3}^{*}(\mu_{2}(w_{1}, w_{2}), w_{3}, v) + \mu_{3}^{*}(\mu_{2}(w_{3}, w_{1}), w_{2}, v) + \mu_{3}^{*}(\mu_{2}(w_{2}, w_{3}), w_{1}, v) + \mu_{3}^{*}(w_{1}, w_{2}, \mu_{2}(w_{3}, v)) + \mu_{3}^{*}(w_{3}, w_{1}, \mu_{2}(w_{2}, v)) + \mu_{3}^{*}(w_{2}, w_{3}, \mu_{2}(w_{1}, v)) - \mu_{2}^{*}(\mu_{3}(w_{1}, w_{2}, w_{3}), v) .$$

$$(2.25)$$

2.5 M2-brane model 3-algebras

The currently most successful M2-brane models [2-4] are given by Chern-Simons matter theories, in which the gauge structure is described by a 3-algebra.⁶ Note that we will use the term 3-algebra to collectively describe both the real 3-algebras of [38] and the hermitian 3-algebras of [39] in this paper. These 3-algebras have nothing to do with Lie 3-algebras or other categorifications of the notion of a Lie algebra. Instead, these 3-algebras are readily shown to be equivalent to certain classes of metric differential crossed modules [14]. As we want to identify 3-algebra models in our Lie 2-algebra models later, let us briefly recall this construction.

We start from a strict Lie 2-algebra L endowed with an inner product $\langle -, -\rangle_0$ for which $W = \mathfrak{g}$ is a real Lie algebra and V is a vector space carrying a faithful orthogonal representation of \mathfrak{g} . The only non-trivial products are $\mu_2 : W \times W \to W$ and $\mu_2 : W \times V \to W$, which are given by the Lie bracket and the representation of W as endomorphism on V, respectively.

As shown in [40], isomorphism classes of such data are in one-to-one correspondence to isomorphism classes of real 3-algebras. In particular, we can define implicitly an operator $D: V \times V \to W$ via

$$\langle w, D(v_1, v_2) \rangle_0 := \langle \mu_2(w, v_1), v_2 \rangle_0 .$$
 (2.26)

With our above definitions, it follows that $D(v_1, v_2) = -\mu_2^*(v_1, v_2)$. Note that $\mu_2^*(v_1, v_2)$ is antisymmetric. We can then introduce a triple bracket $[-, -, -]: V^{\wedge 2} \times V \to V$ by

$$[v_1, v_2, v_3] := D(v_1, v_2) \triangleright v_3 = -\mu_2(\mu_2^*(v_1, v_2), v_3) .$$
(2.27)

This bracket satisfies by definition the fundamental identity, cf. (A.5), and we therefore arrive at a real 3-algebra. Note that a similar construction exists for hermitian 3-algebras.

As the triple bracket (2.27) can be defined for any Lie 2-algebra with inner product $\langle -, -\rangle_0$, one can now ask under which condition the fundamental identity is satisfied and the triple bracket yields a real 3-algebra. A short computation reveals that this is only the case for arbitrary strict or skeletal metric Lie 2-algebras.

While there is no connection between the ternary bracket of a 3-Lie algebra and the Jacobiator of a Lie 2-algebra in general, we can construct (at least) one example where they can be essentially identified. Consider the vector space of $n \times n$ matrices Mat(n). Together with the 3-bracket

$$[a, b, c] = \operatorname{tr}(a)[b, c] + \operatorname{tr}(b)[c, a] + \operatorname{tr}(c)[a, b], \qquad (2.28)$$

Mat(n) forms a 3-Lie algebra as shown in [41]. There, this 3-Lie algebra was suggested to appear in the quantization of Nambu-Poisson brackets. Interestingly, we can also identify this bracket with the Jacobiator of a reduced Lie 2-algebra $V \to W$, where V = W =

 $^{^{6}}$ See appendix A for the relevant definitions.

Mat(n) and the following higher products are non-vanishing:

$$\mu_{1}(v) = v,$$

$$\mu_{2}(w_{1}, w_{2}) = \operatorname{tr}(w_{1})w_{2} - \operatorname{tr}(w_{2})w_{1} + [w_{1}, w_{2}],$$

$$\mu_{2}(v, w) = -(\operatorname{tr}(v)w - \operatorname{tr}(w)v + [v, w]),$$

$$\mu_{3}(w_{1}, w_{2}, w_{3}) = \operatorname{tr}(w_{1})[w_{2}, w_{3}] + \operatorname{tr}(w_{2})[w_{3}, w_{1}] + \operatorname{tr}(w_{3})[w_{1}, w_{2}]$$
(2.29)

for all $v \in V$ and $w \in W$. The higher homotopy relations (2.2) are readily verified. We will denote this Lie 2-algebra by 2Mat(n).

3 Quantized symplectic and 2-plectic manifolds

Before coming to physical models, we will briefly review the quantization⁷ of symplectic spaces and discuss generalizations of this to 2-plectic manifolds. The quantized spaces we introduce here will arise as solutions in our Lie 2-algebra models later on.

3.1 Quantization of symplectic manifolds

We start from a symplectic manifold (M, ω) , which is regarded as the phase space of a classical mechanical system. The observables of this system are given by the functions on M, which form a commutative algebra under pointwise multiplication. In addition, the symplectic form induces a Lie algebra structure on the vector space of smooth functions on M, which turns M into a Poisson manifold. Explicitly, we have for each function $f \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(M)$ a corresponding Hamiltonian vector field X_f defined according to $\iota_{X_f}\omega = \mathrm{d}f$. The Poisson bracket on $\mathcal{C}^{\infty}(M)$ induced by ω is then given by

$$\{f,g\} := \iota_{X_f} \iota_{X_g} \omega \,, \tag{3.1}$$

and we denote the resulting Poisson algebra by $\Pi_{M,\omega}$. As examples, consider \mathbb{R}^2 and S^2 . On these spaces the symplectic form is the volume form vol and the induced Poisson bracket in some coordinates x^a , a = 1, 2, reads as

$$\{f_1, f_2\} = \frac{\varepsilon^{ab}}{|\text{vol}|} \frac{\partial f_1}{\partial x^a} \frac{\partial f_2}{\partial x^b} .$$
(3.2)

The quantization of a symplectic manifold is given by a Hilbert space \mathcal{H} together with a linear map $\hat{-} : \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(M) \to \text{End}(\mathcal{H})$ such that the Poisson algebra $\Pi_{M,\omega}$ is mapped to the Lie algebra $\text{End}(\mathcal{H})$ at least to lowest order in some deformation parameter \hbar :

$$[\hat{f},\hat{g}] = \hat{f}\hat{g} - \hat{g}\hat{f} = -i\hbar \{f,g\} + \mathcal{O}(\hbar^2)$$
(3.3)

for all $f, g \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(M)$. Equation (3.3) is known as the *correspondence principle*.

⁷In this paper, we will use a very rough notion of quantization that is sufficient for our considerations. For a more detailed discussion, see e.g. [25] and references therein.

3.2 2-plectic manifolds

Consider a smooth manifold M endowed with a 3-form ϖ that is closed and non-degenerate in the sense that $\iota_X \varpi = 0$ implies X = 0. We call such a 3-form a 2-plectic form and say that M is a 2-plectic manifold. This can be regarded as a categorification of the notion of a symplectic structure. In particular, three-dimensional manifolds with volume forms ϖ are 2-plectic manifolds.

While a symplectic structure on a manifold M always gives rise to a Poisson structure on M by taking its inverse, a 2-plectic form ϖ gives rise to a Nambu-Poisson structure⁸ only under certain conditions [42]. Therefore, a different analogy should be considered here.

Having discussed categorifications of Lie algebras before, it is natural to expect that there is a categorification of the Poisson algebra in terms of a semistrict Lie 2-algebra [29]. Define the set of Hamiltonian 1-forms $\mathfrak{H}(M)$ as those forms α for which there is a vector field X_{α} such that $\iota_{X_{\alpha}} \varpi = -d\alpha$. Note that for a three-dimensional manifold M, $\mathfrak{H}(M) = \Omega^1(M)$. We then define the semistrict Lie 2-algebra $\Pi_{M,\varpi}$ as the vector space $V \oplus W := \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(M) \oplus \mathfrak{H}(M)$ with non-vanishing products

$$\pi_1(f) = \mathrm{d}f, \quad \pi_2(\alpha, \beta) = -\iota_{X_\alpha}\iota_{X_\beta}\varpi, \quad \pi_3(\alpha, \beta, \gamma) = -\iota_{X_\alpha}\iota_{X_\beta}\iota_{X_\gamma}\varpi, \tag{3.4}$$

where $f \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(M)$ and $\alpha, \beta, \gamma \in \Omega^{1}(M)$. Note that the bracket π_{2} is Hamiltonian. That is,

$$X_{\pi_2(\alpha,\beta)} = [X_\alpha, X_\beta], \qquad (3.5)$$

where the bracket on the right-hand side is the commutator of vector fields. Another useful identity for computations with Hamiltonian vector fields is

$$\iota_{[X_{\alpha}, X_{\beta}]} = \mathcal{L}_{X_{\alpha}} \iota_{X_{\beta}} - \iota_{X_{\beta}} \mathcal{L}_{X_{\alpha}} .$$
(3.6)

A long-standing open question in this context is how to define the analogue of the commutative algebra of observables that on symplectic manifolds was given by the pointwise product of functions on phase space. Ordinary Poisson algebras containing both Lie and associative structure are encoded in a Poisson Lie algebroid. The higher analogue of this structure has been shown to be a so-called Courant Lie 2-algebroid, see [43, 44] for more details on this point. To our knowledge, however, an explicit product on $\mathfrak{H}(M)$ has not been constructed so far. A solution to this problem might be to switch from the semistrict Lie 2-algebra $\Pi_{M,\varpi}$ to the categorically equivalent, skeletal Lie 2-algebra. Here, the 1-forms form an ordinary Lie algebra, and, if we were able to identify this Lie algebra with a matrix algebra, we could use the ordinary matrix product as a product between observables. Another solution might originate from a comparison with the loop space quantization, cf. [45]. For our purposes, this product is not relevant, and we merely assume that it makes sense to identify observables on 2-plectic manifolds with the vector spaces underlying $\Pi_{M,\varpi}$.

From now on, let us restrict our considerations to three-dimensional Riemannian manifolds M for which ϖ is the volume form. We can endow the Lie 2-algebra $\Pi_{M,\varpi}$ with a

⁸See appendix A for a definition and more details.

metric, following the rules and definitions used in section 2.3. For the two vector subspaces $\mathcal{C}^{\infty}(M)$ and $\mathfrak{H}(M)$, we use the usual integrals with respect to the volume form ϖ :

$$\langle f,g\rangle_0 := \int_M \varpi \ f \cdot g \quad \text{and} \quad \langle \alpha,\beta\rangle_0 := \int_M \alpha \wedge \star \beta \,,$$
 (3.7)

which can be easily checked to be invariant under the action of $\pi_2(\alpha, -)$. Note that in the non-compact case, finiteness of these integrals becomes an issue. In particular, one should either restrict to classes of functions and 1-forms with finite norm or consider closed subsets of M as integration domain. If possible, one might also consider a 2-plectic form ϖ with appropriate fall-off behavior towards infinity. To avoid boundary contributions, we will always imply a restriction of $\Pi_{M,\varpi}$ to elements with finite norm.

Via the metric, we can now introduce the transposed product π_1^* and π_3^* :

 $\langle \pi_1(f), \alpha \rangle_0 := \langle f, \pi_1^*(\alpha) \rangle_0 \quad \text{and} \quad \langle \pi_3(\alpha, \beta, \gamma), f \rangle_0 := \langle \gamma, \pi_3^*(\alpha, \beta, f) \rangle_0, \quad (3.8)$

which are therefore given by

$$\pi_1^*(\alpha) = -\star d \star \alpha \qquad \text{and} \qquad \pi_3^*(\alpha, \beta, f) = \star d \iota_{X_\beta} \iota_{X_\alpha} \star f . \tag{3.9}$$

Note that, by the non-degeneracy of ϖ , all combinations of products

$$\pi_2(\pi_1(f), \alpha), \quad \pi_3(\pi_1(f), \alpha, \beta) \quad \text{and} \quad \pi_3^*(\pi_1(f), \alpha, g)$$
 (3.10)

are identically zero, as well as 2 and 3-products containing more than one $\pi_1(f)$, as easily derived from (2.24).

3.3 Examples

Let us now review the manifolds \mathbb{R}^3 and S^3 and their Lie 2-algebras $\Pi_{M,\varpi}$, which will appear in the analysis of the solutions of our model later on.

Euclidean space \mathbb{R}^3 . We endow three-dimensional Euclidean space \mathbb{R}^3 with its canonical volume form $\varpi = \frac{1}{3!} \varepsilon_{ijk} dx^i \wedge dx^j \wedge dx^k$ written in standard Cartesian coordinates x^i . All 1-forms are Hamiltonian, and we compute their Hamiltonian vector fields to be

$$X_{\alpha} = X_{\alpha}^{i} \partial_{i} = -(\varepsilon^{ijk} \partial_{j} \alpha_{k}) \partial_{i} \qquad \text{for} \qquad \alpha = \alpha_{i} \mathrm{d}x^{i} \,, \tag{3.11}$$

which leads to the following products:

$$\pi_1(f) := df, \quad \pi_1(\alpha) := 0,$$

$$\pi_2(\alpha, \beta) := \varepsilon^{ijk} \partial_i \alpha_k (\partial_j \beta_\ell - \partial_\ell \beta_j) dx^\ell,$$

$$\pi_3(\alpha, \beta, \gamma) := \varepsilon^{ijk} \varepsilon^{mnp} \partial_m \alpha_n \partial_j \beta_k (\partial_i \gamma_p - \partial_p \gamma_i).$$

(3.12)

The subset of Hamiltonian 1-forms that are constant or linear⁹ together with the set of constant and linear functions and the above defined non-trivial products π_1 and π_3 form a

⁹I.e. linear with respect to translations on \mathbb{R}^3 .

Heisenberg Lie 2-algebra, the appropriate categorification of the Heisenberg algebra. Note that higher brackets vanish on constant and exact 1-forms. The remaining linear 1-forms are given by

$$\xi_i = \frac{1}{2} \varepsilon_{ijk} x^j \mathrm{d}x^k \,, \tag{3.13}$$

whose Hamiltonian vector fields are $-\partial_i$ and for which we have

$$\pi_2(\xi_i, \xi_j) = \varepsilon_{ijk} \mathrm{d} x^k \quad \text{and} \quad \pi_3(\xi_i, \xi_j, \xi_k) = -\varepsilon_{ijk} \;. \tag{3.14}$$

Note that the 1-forms ξ_i have a special meaning once they are transgressed to loop space. Here, the direction given by the dx^k is interpreted as the tangent to the loop, and one arrives at the following functions on loop space:

$$\frac{1}{2}\varepsilon_{ijk} \oint \mathrm{d}\tau \ x^j(\tau) \ \frac{\mathrm{d}x^k(\tau)}{\mathrm{d}\tau} \,, \tag{3.15}$$

where $\tau \in S^1$ is the loop parameter. For more details about these functions on loop space, see [45, 46].

Assuming finiteness of the norm of the involved functions and 1-forms, we have the following formulas for the transpose product π_3^* :

$$\pi_3^*(\alpha,\beta,f) = -\frac{1}{4} \varepsilon^{ij\ell} \varepsilon^{mnp} \partial_m \alpha_n (\partial_p \beta_\ell - \partial_\ell \beta_p) \partial_j f dx_i ,$$

$$\pi_3^*(\xi_i,\xi_j,f) = -\left(\partial_i f dx_j - \partial_j f dx_i\right) .$$
(3.16)

The sphere S^3 . The other example we are interested in is the 3-sphere S^3 . It will turn out convenient to work in *Hopf coordinates* $0 \le \eta \le \frac{\pi}{2}$ and $0 \le \theta_i \le 2\pi$, which parametrize the embedding $S^3 \to \mathbb{C}^2$ via

$$z_1 = e^{i\theta_1} \sin \eta$$
 and $z_2 = e^{i\theta_2} \cos \eta$. (3.17)

Note that instead of using the standard range given above, we can also use $0 \le \eta \le \pi$, $0 \le \theta_1 \le 2\pi$ and $0 \le \theta_2 \le \pi$.

For simplicity, we combine them as $(\eta_1, \eta_2, \eta_3) = (\eta, \theta_1, \theta_2)$. The volume form and the metric read as

$$\varpi = \sin \eta_1 \cos \eta_1 d\eta_1 \wedge d\eta_2 \wedge d\eta_3 \quad \text{and} \quad ds^2 = d\eta_1^2 + \sin^2 \eta_1 d\eta_2^2 + \cos^2 \eta_1 d\eta_3^2 . \quad (3.18)$$

For 1-forms $\alpha \in \Omega^1(S^3)$, we compute the following Hamiltonian vector fields

$$X_{\alpha} = X_{\alpha}^{i} \partial_{i} = -\frac{1}{\sin \eta_{1} \cos \eta_{1}} (\varepsilon^{ijk} \partial_{j} \alpha_{k}) \partial_{i} \quad \text{for} \quad \alpha = \alpha_{i} \mathrm{d}\eta_{i} , \qquad (3.19)$$

where now $\partial_i := \frac{\partial}{\partial \eta_i}$. One readily derives the products:

$$\pi_1(f) := \mathrm{d}f, \quad \pi_1(\alpha) :\stackrel{!}{=} 0,$$

$$\pi_2(\alpha, \beta) := \frac{1}{\sin \eta_1 \cos \eta_1} \varepsilon^{ijk} \partial_i \alpha_k (\partial_j \beta_\ell - \partial_\ell \beta_j) \mathrm{d}\eta^\ell,$$

$$\pi_3(\alpha, \beta, \gamma) := \frac{1}{\sin^2 \eta_1 \cos^2 \eta_1} \varepsilon^{ijk} \varepsilon^{mnp} \partial_m \alpha_n \partial_j \beta_k (\partial_i \gamma_p - \partial_p \gamma_i).$$
(3.20)

Here, it is not possible to derive 1-forms from the vector fields X_{∂_i} , as $\iota_{X_{\partial_1}} \varpi$ is not closed, and therefore it cannot equal $d\xi_1$. Instead, we choose the same vector fields as for \mathbb{R}^3 , corrected by a factor of $\frac{1}{\sin \eta_1 \cos \eta_1}$. This yields the 1-forms

$$\xi_i = \frac{1}{2} \varepsilon_{ijk} \eta^j \mathrm{d}\eta^k \,, \tag{3.21}$$

together with the following formulas for the products:

$$\pi_2(\xi_i,\xi_j) = \frac{\varepsilon_{ijk} \mathrm{d}\eta^k}{\sin\eta_1 \cos\eta_1} \quad \text{and} \quad \pi_3(\xi_i,\xi_j,\xi_k) = -\frac{\varepsilon_{ijk} \mathrm{d}\eta^k}{\sin^2\eta_1 \cos^2\eta_1} . \tag{3.22}$$

The formulas for the transposed product π_3^* read as

$$\pi_3^*(\alpha,\beta,f) = -\frac{\varepsilon^{ij\ell}\varepsilon^{mnp}}{4\sin\eta_1\cos\eta_1}\partial_m\alpha_n(\partial_p\beta_\ell - \partial_\ell\beta_p)\partial_jfdx_i,$$

$$\pi_3^*(\xi_i,\xi_j,f) = -\frac{1}{\sin\eta_1\cos\eta_1}\left(\partial_ifd\eta_j - \partial_jfd\eta_i\right).$$
(3.23)

3.4 Reduction of 2-plectic to symplectic manifolds

The 2-plectic manifolds we will discuss appear very naturally in the context of M-theory. Roughly speaking, the 2-plectic structure on these spaces arises here as the "dual" of a trivector field originating from a non-trivial C-field in M-theory, cf. e.g. [47]. This is the higher analogue of a symplectic structure arising as a dual to the Seiberg-Witten bivector field [48]. Our 2-plectic manifolds can be seen as M-theory lifts of symplectic manifolds appearing in string theory. In the following, we briefly comment on taking the inverse of this lift.

To reduce from M-theory to type IIA string theory, we have to identify an M-theory direction along which the 2-plectic form is invariant. Instead of restricting to the usual Kaluza-Klein procedure, we should also allow non-trivial fibrations of the 2-plectic manifold over a symplectic manifold. Since we are mostly interested in three-dimensional spaces, we can regard them as contact manifolds, and, upon reducing along the Reeb vector field corresponding to the contact form, we necessarily obtain a symplectic manifold. In this process, we contract the Hamiltonian 1-forms with the Reeb vector to obtain the Poisson algebra of functions on the underlying symplectic manifold. We will discuss this reduction explicitly for \mathbb{R}^3 and S^3 in the following.

Another possibility of interpreting this reduction is a slight detour via loop spaces, see e.g. [45, 49]: while the boundary of a string on a D-brane yields a point, that of an M2brane on an M5-brane forms a loop. It is therefore naturally to consider loop spaces of the worldvolume of the M5-brane or submanifolds thereof. Switching to loop space allows us to introduce the so-called transgression map, which reduces the form degree by one: each loop comes with a natural tangent vector, which is given by the loop of the tangent vectors to the loop. Contracting an *n*-form on a manifold with this vector yields an n - 1-form on loop space. Since this transgression map is a chain map,¹⁰ a 2-plectic form ϖ on a manifold M is mapped to a symplectic form on the corresponding loop space.

¹⁰I.e. it maps closed/exact forms to closed/exact forms.

To reduce the M-theory loop space to an ordinary space of string theory amounts to restricting to loops that are parallel to the Reeb vector field. Integrating over the loop parameter reduces the dependence of functions on loop space to that of the zero mode of the loop. Therefore, functions on loop space are reduced to functions on the symplectic manifold. Further support of this point of view comes from the observation that the Lie 2-algebra $\Pi_{M,\varpi}$ transgresses to a Poisson algebra on the loop space of M. The quantization of $\Pi_{M,\varpi}$ should similarly correspond to a natural quantization of the Poisson algebra on loop space, cf. [45].

Let us now think of the above three-dimensional spaces as contact manifolds. We want to reduce them along the Reeb vectors corresponding to a chosen contact 1-form to obtain two-dimensional manifolds. These manifolds will be endowed with a natural symplectic structure, which is given by the total derivative of the contact 1-form, restricted to the kernel of the same 1-form. Explicitly, after identifying a maximally non-integrable 1-form γ , which amounts to $\gamma \wedge d\gamma$ being nowhere vanishing, we need to find the corresponding Reeb vector field X_R satisfying

$$\iota_{X_R}\gamma = 1 \qquad \text{and} \qquad \iota_{X_R}\mathrm{d}\gamma = 0 \ . \tag{3.24}$$

Since we are working with three-dimensional manifolds, we can normalize the contact form by imposing the additional condition

$$\gamma \wedge \mathrm{d}\gamma = \varpi \ . \tag{3.25}$$

Now, every 1-form γ in $\Pi_{M,\varpi}$ has its corresponding Hamiltonian vector field X_{γ} , and we have also $d\gamma = -\iota_{X_{\gamma}}\varpi$, so that $\iota_{X_{\gamma}}d\gamma = 0$. That is, X_{γ} satisfies the second requirement of a Reeb vector. Moreover, $\iota_{X_{\gamma}}\gamma = -1$ since

$$0 \neq d\gamma = -\iota_{X_{\gamma}} \varpi = -\iota_{X_{\gamma}} (\gamma \wedge d\gamma) = -(\iota_{X_{\gamma}} \gamma) d\gamma .$$
(3.26)

We can therefore take $X_R := -X_{\gamma}$ as the Reeb vector corresponding to the contact 1-form γ . In the M-theory context, the Reeb vector field is a vector field along the 'M-theory direction'.

The reduction of the 2-plectic manifold together with its induced Lie 2-algebra $\Pi_{M,\varpi}$ to a symplectic manifold with its corresponding Poisson algebra is rather straightforward: all forms are contracted by the Reeb vector field. In particular, we obtain a two-dimensional manifold¹¹ $M_R := M/X_R$, where we divide M by the free abelian action of the Reeb vector field. The symplectic form on M_R is given by $\varpi_R := \iota_{X_R} \varpi = d\gamma$. Moreover, the Hamiltonian 1-forms α on M become functions $f_\alpha := \iota_{X_R} \alpha$ on M_R and the Lie 2-algebra $\Pi_{M,\varpi}$ reduces to a Poisson algebra Π_{M_R,ϖ_R} . Hamiltonian 1-forms along (the M-theory direction) X_R are of the form $\alpha = f_\alpha \gamma$. For two such relative forms α and β , we have

$$\iota_{X_R}\pi_2(\alpha,\beta) = -\iota_{X_R}\iota_{X_\alpha}\iota_{X_\beta}\varpi = -\iota_{X_\alpha}\iota_{X_\beta}\varpi_R = -\iota_{X_{f_\alpha}}\iota_{X_{f_\beta}}\varpi_R = \{f_\alpha, f_\beta\}, \qquad (3.27)$$

¹¹In the cases that we are interested in, the quotient space turns out to be a smooth manifold.

where the Hamiltonian vector fields of the functions f_{α} are defined with respect to ϖ_R . Writing d_R for the exterior derivative on M_R , we have

$$d_R(\iota_{X_R}\alpha) = d_R f_\alpha = \iota_{X_{f_\alpha}} \varpi_R .$$
(3.28)

Altogether, we recover a two-dimensional symplectic manifold, with all its structure given in terms of our initial 2-plectic one.

Reduction of \mathbb{R}^3 . To reduce the 2-plectic space \mathbb{R}^3 to the symplectic manifold \mathbb{R}^2 , we use the contact form $\gamma = dz - ydx$. The corresponding Reeb vector X_R , given by $d\gamma = \iota_{X_R} \varpi$, is therefore $X_R = \partial_z$. Restricting to Hamiltonian 1-forms along the M-theory direction γ , we recover the usual Poisson algebra for \mathbb{R}^2 . Consider two such forms $\alpha = f_{\alpha}\gamma$ and $\beta = f_{\beta}\gamma$. We have

$$\iota_{\partial_z} \pi_2(\alpha, \beta) = \{ \iota_{X_R} \alpha, \iota_{X_R} \beta \} = \{ f_\alpha, f_\beta \} = -\iota_{X_{f_\alpha}} \iota_{X_{f_\beta}} \varpi_R$$
$$= \frac{\partial}{\partial x} f_\alpha \ \frac{\partial}{\partial y} f_\beta - \frac{\partial}{\partial y} f_\alpha \ \frac{\partial}{\partial x} f_\beta .$$
(3.29)

We can also reduce the 2-plectic manifold $\mathbb{R}^3 \setminus \{0\}$ to S^2 , recovering the symplectic structure there. The contact form here is given in canonical spherical coordinates by $\gamma = r^2 dr - \cos \theta d\phi$. This yields the Reeb vector field $X_R = \frac{1}{r^2} \partial_r$. The 2-plectic structure ϖ reduces to the usual symplectic structure of the 2-sphere: $\varpi_R = \sin \theta d\theta \wedge d\phi$. The Lie 2-algebra of Hamiltonian 1-forms $\alpha = f_{\alpha}\gamma$ on $\mathbb{R}^3 \setminus \{0\}$ reduces accordingly to the Poisson algebra of functions on the 2-sphere.

Reduction of S^3 . Here let us choose the contact form $\gamma = \frac{1}{2}d\eta_3 + \sin^2\eta_1d\eta_2$, so as to obtain on S^2 the symplectic structure $\varpi_R = d\gamma = 2\sin\eta_1\cos\eta_1d\eta_1 \wedge d\eta_2 = \sin(2\eta_1)d\eta_1 \wedge d\eta_2$. The Reeb vector here is $X_R = 2\partial_{\eta_3}$, and for Hamiltonian 1-forms α , β along the M-theory direction we have

$$\iota_{X_R} \pi_2(\alpha, \beta) = \frac{2}{\cos \eta_1 \sin \eta_1} \varepsilon^{ij3} \partial_{\eta_i} f_\alpha \partial_{\eta_j} f_\beta = \{f_\alpha, f_\beta\}, \qquad (3.30)$$

which is the usual Poisson structure on S^2 .

3.5 Lie 2-algebras not originating from 2-plectic manifolds

Just as a Poisson manifold is not necessarily a symplectic manifold, we should not expect that any interesting Lie 2-algebra of 1-forms comes from a 2-plectic structure. To illustrate this point further, let us consider the categorification of Hpp-waves.

Recall that ten-dimensional homogeneous plane waves arise as the Penrose limit of the near horizon geometry $AdS_5 \times S^5$ in type IIB supergravity [50]. If we restrict the plane wave to four dimensions, it can be regarded as the group manifold of a twisted Heisenberg group. Its Lie algebra is the extension of the two-dimensional Heisenberg algebra by one additional generator J:

$$[\lambda_a, \lambda_b] = \varepsilon_{ab} \mathbb{1} , \quad [J, \lambda_a] = \varepsilon_{ab} \lambda_b , \quad [\mathbb{1}, \lambda_a] = [\mathbb{1}, J] = 0 .$$
(3.31)

This algebra is also known as Nappi-Witten algebra and it can be regarded as linear Poisson structure on a four-dimensional Hpp-wave. Moreover, it can be obtained in various ways as a solution of the IKKT model, where J and $\mathbb{1}$ are regarded as quantized light-cone coordinates, while λ_a are the quantized two remaining spatial coordinates. For further details, including an analogous twisted Nambu-Heisenberg algebra, see [25].

A categorification of this Poisson structure on a four-dimensional Hpp-wave would clearly correspond to a twist of the Lie 2-algebra induced by the 2-plectic structure on \mathbb{R}^3 . Although the integration theory of Lie 2-algebras is barely developed, one is led to an interpretation of the twisted Lie 2-algebra as a categorified linear Poisson structure on a five-dimensional Hpp-wave. We start from five coordinates x^{\pm} and x^i , $i = 1, \ldots, 3$ together with the 1-forms

$$\xi_i = \varepsilon_{ijk} x^j \mathrm{d} x^k \quad \text{and} \quad \xi^i_{\pm} = x_{\pm} \mathrm{d} x^i \;.$$
 (3.32)

The twisted version of the Lie 2-algebra $\Pi_{\mathbb{R}^3,\varpi}$ is given by

$$\pi_2(\xi_i,\xi_j) = -\varepsilon_{ijk} \mathrm{d}x^k \,, \qquad \pi_3(\xi_i,\xi_j,\xi_k) = -\varepsilon_{ijk} \,, \tag{3.33}$$

where we take the products involving the light-cone sector, parametrized by x^{\pm} , to be:

$$\pi_2(\xi_i,\xi_{j-}) = \varepsilon_{ijk}\xi^k, \qquad \pi_2(\xi_-^i,\xi_-^j) = -\varepsilon_k^{ij}\xi_-^k, \qquad \pi_2(\xi_+^i,-) = 0,$$
(3.34)

$$\pi_3(\xi_i,\xi_-^j,\xi_-^k) = 0, \qquad \pi_3(\xi_-^i,\xi_j,\xi_k) = \delta_k^i x^j - \delta_j^i x^k, \qquad \pi_3(\xi_-^i,\xi_-^j,\xi_-^k) = 0,$$

while all the $\pi_3(\xi^i_+, -, -) = 0$. The two-products in the above reduce to the Nappi-Witten algebra in 4 dimensions (3.31) after contraction along one of the \mathbb{R}^3 vectors, for instance $\frac{\partial}{\partial x^3}$:

$$\xi_i \to \xi_a = \varepsilon_{ab} x^b dx^3$$
, so that $\lambda_a \equiv \iota_{\partial_3} \xi_a = \varepsilon_{ab} x^b$, (3.35)

if we further identify $J \equiv -x_{-}$. In analogy to the symplectic case, we will set all $\pi_2(\xi_{-}^i, -)$ and $\pi_2(\xi_{-}^i, -)$ acting on exact 1-forms to zero, in line with the interpretation that they should act as derivations along the direction they define. By combining 2-products we obtain expressions for $\pi_1(\pi_3(-, -, -))$ and thus deduce 3-products π_3 that are compatible with the Lie 2-algebra structure, given in the second line in (3.34). Note that these are only fixed up to constant terms by the Lie 2-algebra equations, so here we chose the simplest possible form for them. We can further take all mixed 2-products $\pi_2(x^{\pm}, \xi_i) = \pi_2(\xi_{\pm}^i, x^j) =$ 0, as well as set $\pi_2(\xi_{\pm}^i, x^{\pm}) = 0$, since this does not affect the 2-algebra equations, nor do we have any natural reason to expect them to be non-vanishing.

Another example of a Lie 2-algebra that does not arise from a 3-form in the manner described in section 3.2 is that of a twisted Poisson algebra [51] arising e.g. in the context of double geometry. This example points towards a more comprehensive mathematical description of higher Poisson structures. A Poisson structure on a manifold is encoded in a corresponding Poisson Lie algebroid. Analogously, one would expect that higher (2-)Poisson structures are encoded in a Courant Lie 2-algebroid. This is in fact the case for the twisted Poisson algebras discussed in [51].

A geometric quantization of twisted Poisson manifolds has been proposed in [52] and deformation quantization of these manifolds has been considered in [53].

3.6 Quantization

The quantization of 2-plectic manifolds remains an open problem. Partial answers have been obtained by quantizing the Nambu-Poisson bracket that arises from a 2-plectic structure under certain conditions, cf. [25] and references therein. Other approaches use a detour via loop spaces, see e.g. [45]. For a more recent discussions of the general mechanism, see e.g. [54]. Attacking the quantization of 2-plectic manifolds directly faces the aforementioned problem that even the algebraic structure of classical observables is not fully clarified. Fortunately, we can ignore this problem and regard classical quantization only as a Lie algebra homomorphism to first order in \hbar that maps the Poisson algebra to a Lie algebra of quantum observables. The categorified analogue is then a Lie 2-algebra homomorphism to first order in \hbar that maps a Lie 2-algebra of classical observables — arising e.g. from a 2-plectic structure — to a Lie 2-algebra of quantum observables. Roughly this point of view has been adopted e.g. in [55], see also [44], where prequantization of 2-plectic manifolds has been developed to a considerable amount. Usually, the symplectic form on certain quantizable manifolds defines the first Chern class of the prequantum line bundle. Fully analogously, a 2-plectic structure on certain manifolds defines the Dixmier-Douady class of a prequantum abelian gerbe. Many other ingredients of conventional geometric quantization have natural counterparts in this picture. In particular, the Atiyah algebroid, a symplectic Lie algebroid capturing the Souriau approach to geometric quantization, is replaced by a Courant Lie 2-algebroid, a symplectic Lie 2-algebroid.

Further evidence in favor of quantizing the Lie 2-algebra induced by the 2-plectic structure over the quantization of the Nambu-bracket stems from the above mentioned loop space approach. Both the 2-plectic structure as well as the prequantum abelian gerbe can be consistently mapped to a symplectic form of the loop space of the original manifold. Instead of quantizing the 2-plectic manifold, one can therefore quantize the induced symplectic loop space, cf. [45, 49] and references therein. This quantization of loop space is now naturally compatible with the quantization of the 2-plectic structure.

Having established that our notion of quantization will be necessarily incomplete, let us now specify it to the extend we can. Our guiding principle here will be a straightforward analogy with the correspondence principle (3.3) of ordinary quantization: a quantization of a manifold M endowed with a Lie 2-algebra Π_M is a semistrict Lie 2-algebra $\hat{\Pi}_M$ with products μ_i together with a map

$$\hat{-}: \Pi_M \to \hat{\Pi}_M \,, \tag{3.36}$$

which is a Lie 2-algebra homomorphism to lowest order in a deformation parameter \hbar . For simplicity, we will restrict our attention to Lie 2-algebra homomorphisms ($\Psi_0, \Psi_{-1}, \Psi_2$) that are purely given in terms of chain maps with $\Psi_2 = 0$. This results in the following "categorified correspondence principle:"

$$\mu_1(\hat{X}) = -i\hbar \,\widehat{\pi_1(X)} + \mathcal{O}(\hbar) \,, \quad \mu_2(\hat{X}, \hat{Y}) = -i\hbar \,\widehat{\pi_2(X, Y)} + \mathcal{O}(\hbar^2) \,, \mu_3(\hat{X}, \hat{Y}, \hat{Z}) = -i\hbar \,\widehat{\pi_3(X, Y, Z)} + \mathcal{O}(\hbar^2) \,.$$
(3.37)

For our goals in this paper, this categorified correspondence principle will prove to be sufficient.

3.7 Representation of the Heisenberg Lie 2-algebra

While we cannot solve the problem of quantization of 2-plectic manifolds here, we can give some partial insight by regarding the analogue of the Heisenberg algebra, which arises in the quantization of \mathbb{R}^2 . More specifically, the Heisenberg algebra is spanned by quantized constant and linear functions, \hat{x}^i and $\hat{c} = c\mathbb{1}$, $c \in \mathbb{R}$. These operators satisfy the commutation relation

$$[\hat{x}^{a}, \hat{x}^{b}] = -i\hbar \widehat{\{x^{a}, x^{b}\}} = -i\hbar \varepsilon^{ab} \mathbb{1} , \quad a, b = 1, 2 .$$
(3.38)

Note that the corrections to order $\mathcal{O}(\hbar^2)$ in the correspondence principle vanish for coordinate functions. A representation for the Heisenberg algebra is given by U_3 , the upper triangular 3×3 -dimensional matrices:

$$a\hat{x}^{1} + b\hat{x}^{2} - i\hbar c\mathbb{1} \quad \mapsto \quad \begin{pmatrix} 0 \ a \ c \\ 0 \ 0 \ b \\ 0 \ 0 \ 0 \end{pmatrix},$$
 (3.39)

and the matrix commutator of these upper triangular matrices reproduces the algebra relation (3.38).

The Heisenberg Lie 2-algebra is spanned by quantized constant and linear functions as well as constant and linear 1-forms \hat{x}^i , $\hat{c} = c\mathbb{1}$ and ξ^i , dx^i , as defined in section 3.3. The non-trivial Lie 2-algebra products for the quantized coordinate algebra are

$$\mu_1(\hat{x}^i) = \widehat{-i\hbar dx^i}, \quad \mu_2(\hat{\xi}_i, \hat{\xi}_j) = -i\hbar\widehat{\varepsilon_{ijk}dx^k}, \quad \mu_3(\hat{\xi}_i, \hat{\xi}_j, \hat{\xi}_k) = \widehat{i\hbar\varepsilon_{ijk}}\mathbb{1}, \quad (3.40)$$

where we again assumed that the corrections in the correspondence principle to order $\mathcal{O}(\hbar^2)$ vanish here.

We represent this Lie 2-algebra on the 2-vector space $\mathbb{R}^4 \xrightarrow{\mu_1} U_5$, where \mathbb{R}^4 is spanned by basis vectors e^0, e^i and U_5 is the vector space of upper triangular 5×5 -dimensional matrices. The chain maps of the Lie 2-algebra homomorphism are given by

$$-i\hbar c \mathbb{1} + b_i \hat{x}^i \quad \mapsto \quad ce^0 + b_i e^i ,$$

$$a^i \hat{\xi}_i - i\hbar b_i \widehat{dx^i} \quad \mapsto \quad \begin{pmatrix} 0 & a^1 & b_3 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & a^2 & b_1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & a^3 & b_2 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & a^1 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} .$$

$$(3.41)$$

The non-trivial Lie 2-algebra products on this 2-vector space are given by obvious maps $\mu_1 : \mathbb{R}^4 \to U_5$ and $\mu_3 : U_5^{\wedge 3} \to \mathbb{R}^4$ together with the map

$$\mu_2(u_1, u_2) = [P(u_1), P(u_2)], \quad u_1, u_2 \in U_5,$$
(3.42)

where

$$P\begin{pmatrix} 0 & a^{1} & b_{3} & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & a^{2} & b_{1} & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 0 & a^{3} & b_{2}\\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & a^{1}\\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} := \begin{pmatrix} 0 & a^{1} & 0 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & a^{2} & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 0 & a^{3} & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & a^{1}\\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} .$$
(3.43)

Such brackets containing projectors are quite common in the context of derived brackets and strong homotopy Lie algebras, cf. [56]. Note that the reduction of the representation (3.41) to (3.39) is very transparent.

4 Homogeneous Lie 2-algebra models

Let us now come to the homogeneous Lie 2-algebra models, which are built from the various inner products. As stated before, these models are written in terms of a single type of field X^a , $a = 1, \ldots, d$, which takes values in a Lie 2-algebra. We start by discussing the difference between the three kinds of metrics. We then consider the classical equations of motion and demonstrate that their solutions contain quantized symplectic and 2-plectic manifolds.

4.1 Homogeneous Lie 2-algebra models and the various inner products

The first ingredient are the various non-vanishing products on L, which we summarize here for the reader's convenience:

$\mu_1: V \to W ,$	$\mu_1^*: W \to V ,$		
$\mu_2: V \wedge W \to V ,$	$\mu_2: W \wedge W \to W,$	$\mu_2^*: V \wedge V \to W ,$	(4.1)
$\mu_3: W \wedge W \wedge W \to V ,$	$\mu_3^*: W \wedge W \otimes V \to W \; .$		

Note that we can neglect the product κ_2 , as it is built from the ones above. Moreover, note that $\mu_2^*(w, \ell) = -\mu_2(w, \ell)$ for any $w \in W$ and $\ell \in L$. The large number of remaining products makes it impossible to discuss a general action, and inspired by the M2-brane models, we will restrict ourselves to actions that are at most sextic in the fields.

In the following, we briefly discuss general Lie 2-algebra models that make use of the three inner products that we introduced in section 2.3. Recall that a key feature of all inner products was the fact that

$$\langle \mu_2(w,\ell_1),\ell_2 \rangle + \langle \ell_1,\mu_2(w,\ell_2) \rangle = 0$$
 (4.2)

for $w \in W$ and $\ell_1, \ell_2 \in L$. This property is required to guarantee that the actions of Lie 2-algebra models exhibit a nice symmetry algebra.

The cyclic metric $\langle -, - \rangle_{\infty}$ defined in section 2.3 is very restrictive. Recall that this metric corresponds to an invariant polynomial, which naturally induces actions for field theories of "Chern-Simons type", cf. [15]. A typical example is the action discussed in [11, 57], whose stationary points are described by homotopy Maurer-Cartan equations. Here, however, we are more interested in actions of "Yang-Mills type", of which the IKKT model is an example.

Leaving out the product μ_1 , the only non-zero terms we can construct, up to fourth order in X, are

$$S_{\infty} = \frac{1}{2} m_{ab} \langle X^{a}, X^{b} \rangle_{\infty} + \frac{1}{3} c_{abc} \langle X^{a}, \mu_{2}(X^{b}, X^{c}) \rangle_{\infty} + \frac{1}{4} \langle \mu_{2}(X^{a}, X^{b}), \mu_{2}(X^{a}, X^{b}) \rangle_{\infty}, \quad (4.3)$$

where m_{ab} is a 'mass matrix' and $c_{abc} \in \mathbb{R}$ is some totally antisymmetric tensor encoding a background yielding a cubic coupling. Higher order terms involving nested μ_2 can be constructed, too. Note, however, that terms involving μ_3 necessarily vanish, cf. (2.13). Splitting the fields X^a in the action (4.3) into the components $X^a = v^a + w^a$ with $v^a \in V$ and $w^a \in W$, we arrive at

$$S_{\infty} = \frac{1}{2} m_{ab} \langle v^{a}, v^{b} \rangle_{\infty} + \frac{1}{2} m_{ab} \langle w^{a}, w^{b} \rangle_{\infty} + \frac{1}{3} c_{abc} \langle w^{a}, \mu_{2}(w^{b}, w^{c}) \rangle_{\infty} + \frac{1}{4} \langle \mu_{2}(w^{a}, w^{b}), \mu_{2}(w^{a}, w^{b}) \rangle_{\infty} .$$

$$(4.4)$$

In the case of the minimally invariant metric, we can write down more general terms. For example, we could consider the following action:

$$S_{0} = \frac{1}{2} m_{ab} \langle X^{a}, X^{b} \rangle_{0} + \frac{1}{3} c_{abc} \langle X^{a}, \mu_{2}(X^{b}, X^{c}) \rangle_{0} + \frac{1}{4} \langle \mu_{2}(X^{a}, X^{b}), \mu_{2}(X^{a}, X^{b}) \rangle_{0} \\ + d_{abcd} \langle X^{a}, \mu_{3}(X^{b}, X^{c}, X^{d}) \rangle_{0} + \frac{1}{6} \lambda \langle \mu_{3}(X^{a}, X^{b}, X^{c}), \mu_{3}(X^{a}, X^{b}, X^{c}) \rangle_{0} \\ = \frac{1}{2} m_{ab} \langle v^{a}, v^{b} \rangle_{0} + \frac{1}{2} m_{ab} \langle w^{a}, w^{b} \rangle_{0} + \frac{2}{3} c_{abc} \langle v^{a}, \mu_{2}(w^{b}, v^{c}) \rangle + \frac{1}{3} c_{abc} \langle w^{a}, \mu_{2}(w^{b}, w^{c}) \rangle \rangle \\ + \frac{1}{2} \langle \mu_{2}(w^{a}, v^{b}), \mu_{2}(w^{a}, v^{b}) \rangle + \frac{1}{2} \langle \mu_{2}(w^{a}, v^{b}), \mu_{2}(v^{a}, w^{b}) \rangle + \frac{1}{4} \langle \mu_{2}(w^{a}, w^{b}), \mu_{2}(w^{a}, w^{b}) \rangle \\ + \frac{1}{4} d_{abcd} \langle v^{a}, \mu_{3}(w^{b}, w^{c}, w^{d}) \rangle + \frac{1}{6} \lambda \langle \mu_{3}(w^{a}, w^{b}, w^{c}), \mu_{3}(w^{a}, w^{b}, w^{c}) \rangle , \qquad (4.5)$$

where $c_{abc} \in \mathbb{R}$ and $d_{abcd} \in \mathbb{R}$ encode totally antisymmetric¹² background tensors and $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$ is a coupling constant.

In the case of the reduced metric, V is considered as a sub vector space of W. Thus, we can replace X^a in the action directly by w^a , and we get interaction terms like

$$d_{abcd}\langle X^a, \mu_3(X^b, X^c, X^d) \rangle_{\text{red}} = d_{abcd}\langle w^a, \mu_3(w^b, w^c, w^d) \rangle_{\text{red}}, \qquad (4.6)$$

which, however, can be rewritten as $3d_{abcd}\langle w^a, \mu_2(\mu_2(w^{[b}, w^c), w^{d]})\rangle$.

While actions built from minimally invariant and reduced inner products can contain considerably more interactions than those employing the cyclic inner product, it is not clear to us whether these additional terms are useful. In particular, when considering actions that have quantized symplectic and 2-plectic geometries as solutions, we can restrict ourselves to the terms contained in S_{∞} .

4.2 Symmetries of the models

The symmetries of a general Lie 2-algebra model have to be given by Lie 2-algebra automorphisms. Recall that the symmetry algebra relevant in the IKKT matrix model was the algebra of inner automorphisms of the underlying matrix algebra. We will therefore focus our attention here on *inner Lie 2-algebra automorphisms*, by which we mean automorphisms $\Psi: L \to L$ which read infinitesimally as

$$\Psi_{-1}(v) = v + \mu_2(\alpha, v), \quad \Psi_0(w) = w + \mu_2(\alpha, w) \quad \text{and} \quad \Psi_2(w_1, w_2) = \mu_3(\alpha, w_1, w_2), \quad (4.7)$$

¹²While only totally antisymmetric parts of c_{abc} contribute to S_0 , this is not the case for d_{abcd} .

where $v \in V$, $w \in W$, and $\alpha \in W$ is the (infinitesimal) gauge parameter. Under these symmetries, Lie 2-algebra actions remain invariant, independently of the inner product used in their definition. This is due to the invariance described in equation (4.2). For example, both the cyclic and minimally invariant inner products split into separate inner products of terms in W and inner products of terms in V:

$$S = \sum_{i} \langle w_{1,i}, w_{2,i} \rangle + \sum_{j} \langle v_{1,j}, v_{2,j} \rangle .$$
(4.8)

Each of these terms is invariant under inner Lie 2-algebra automorphisms, e.g.

$$\delta\langle w_1, w_2 \rangle = \langle \delta w_1, w_2 \rangle + \langle w_1, \delta w_2 \rangle = \langle \mu_2(\alpha, w_1), w_2 \rangle + \langle w_1, \mu_2(\alpha, w_2) \rangle = 0 .$$
(4.9)

One should stress in this context an important difference to conventional field theories: to propagate the action of the symmetry transformations from a higher product onto the fields, one has to take into account that a Lie 2-algebra automorphism also transforms the higher products themselves. For example, we have

$$\delta\mu_2(w_1, w_2) = \mu_2(\delta w_1, w_2) + \mu_2(w_1, \delta w_2) + (\delta\mu_2)(w_1, w_2), \qquad (4.10)$$

and the explicit form of $(\delta \mu_2)(w_1, w_2)$ is easily read off equation (2.7).

Recall that the IKKT model arose as a dimensional reduction of a ten-dimensional supersymmetric gauge theory. Symmetries of this model are therefore given by residual supersymmetry as well as dimensionally reduced gauge symmetry. We might expect that something similar happens in the case of Lie 2-algebra models, assuming that they arise from a dimensional reduction of semistrict higher gauge theory. While semistrict higher gauge theory has only been developed partially, an attempt to capture its local gauge structure has been made in [33].

In this framework, gauge symmetry is described by a Lie 2-algebra automorphism (g_0, g_{-1}, g_2) together with a flat connection doublet (σ, Σ) and a 1-form τ taking values in Hom (W, V). The connection doublet and the 1-form are solutions of the consistency relations (B.7). For further reference, a concise overview over this gauge structure is included in appendix B.

After the dimensional reduction to a point, the consistency relations are satisfied for trivial (σ, Σ) and τ , and the whole gauge structure therefore reduces to a Lie 2-algebra automorphism. We thus arrive at the symmetries of our Lie 2-algebra model, in analogy with the case of the IKKT model. Note, however, that Lie 2-algebra models arising from dimensionally reducing a semistrict higher gauge theory to a point are more likely to be described by inhomogeneous Lie 2-algebra models, and we will return to this issue in section 5.2.

4.3 Reduction to the IKKT model and quantized symplectic manifolds

The reduction to the bosonic part of the IKKT model is a rather trivial affair. Given a (real) Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} , we can extend it trivially to a Lie 2-algebra $L_{\mathfrak{g}}: V \to W$ by putting $V = * = \{0\}$ and $W = \mathfrak{g}$. The only non-trivial higher product is then $\mu_2 : \mathfrak{g} \times \mathfrak{g} \to \mathfrak{g}$,

which is given by the commutator. The higher Jacobi identities are trivially satisfied. The Gram-Schmidt inner product yields an inner product on this Lie 2-algebra. This inner product satisfies simultaneously the axioms of cyclic, reduced and minimally invariant inner products, as one readily verifies. We can therefore work with any of the above discussed homogeneous Lie 2-algebra models.

All these models contained the following terms in the action:

$$S_0 = \frac{1}{2} m_{ab} \langle X^a, X^b \rangle + \frac{1}{3} c_{abc} \langle X^a, \mu_2(X^b, X^c) \rangle + \frac{1}{4} \langle \mu_2(X^a, X^b), \mu_2(X^a, X^b) \rangle .$$
(4.11)

Assuming that the underlying Lie 2-algebra is the Lie 2-algebra $L_{\mathfrak{g}}$, we recover the bosonic part of the IKKT matrix model (1.2) together with the bosonic part of the deformation terms (1.4). Note that using a T-duality, one can then obtain BFSS matrix quantum mechanics [58] in the usual way.

We say that a solution to the IKKT model corresponds to a quantized symplectic manifold, if the matrices X^a describing this solution are given by a complete set of quantized coordinate functions of a noncommutative space. Note that for compact spaces like the fuzzy sphere, these coordinate functions are given by embedding coordinates of the compact manifold M in some \mathbb{R}^n . These coordinates should be seen as the pullback of the coordinate functions on \mathbb{R}^n along the embedding¹³ $e: M \hookrightarrow \mathbb{R}^n$.

Let us briefly recall three important solutions of the IKKT model for future reference. For vanishing masses m_{ab} and cubic couplings c_{abc} , we obtain the Moyal plane \mathbb{R}^{2n}_{θ} , as already mentioned in the introduction. This space is described by quantized coordinate functions \hat{x}^i , $i = 1, \ldots, 2n$, satisfying the Heisenberg algebra, cf. (3.38).

The fuzzy sphere S^2 is described as a quantized submanifold of \mathbb{R}^3 by the quantized coordinate algebra

$$[\hat{x}^i, \hat{x}^j] = -i\hbar R \varepsilon^{ijk} \hat{x}^k \,, \tag{4.12}$$

where i, j, k = 1, 2, 3, R is the radius of the fuzzy sphere and $\hbar = \frac{2}{k}, k \in \mathbb{N}$, cf. [25]. As solutions to the IKKT model, it can be obtained in two ways. First of all, we can turn on a mass term

$$m_{ij} = -2\hbar^2 R^2 \delta_{ij} \,, \tag{4.13}$$

as observed in [59]. Second, we can tune the cubic coupling proportional to the structure constants of $\mathfrak{su}(2)$,

$$c_{ijk} = -i\hbar R\varepsilon_{ijk} \,, \tag{4.14}$$

as discussed in [60]. Both mass terms and cubic couplings can certainly be combined in a more general fashion.

The quantized Hpp-wave encoded in the Nappi-Witten algebra (3.31) is obtained as the solution

$$\hat{x}^1 = \lambda_1, \quad \hat{x}^2 = \lambda_2, \quad \hat{x}^3 = J \quad \text{and} \quad \hat{x}^4 = \mathbb{1}$$
 (4.15)

¹³According to the Whitney embedding theorem, any smooth manifold of dimension d can be smoothly embedded in \mathbb{R}^{2d} . This restricts the dimension of the quantized symplectic manifolds that can arise as solutions in the IKKT model. In fact, the Whitney embedding theorem can be improved to \mathbb{R}^{2d-1} unless d is a power of 2.

of the action S_0 with the following non-trivial mass-terms and couplings:

$$m_{11} = m_{22} = -1$$
 and $c_{ijk} = \varepsilon_{ijk}, \quad i, j, k = 1, 2, 3,$ (4.16)

see also [9].

Before coming to the case of 2-plectic manifolds, let us briefly note a subtle point. While the above quantized coordinate algebras do solve the equations of motion resulting from the action S_0 , they may not correspond to quantized square integrable functions or may yield problematic terms in the action. For example, in the case of the Moyal plane, we have $[X^a, X^b] = \varepsilon^{ab} \mathbb{1}$. The term $\langle \mu_2(X^a, X^b), \mu_2(X^a, X^b) \rangle = \operatorname{tr}([X^a, X^b][X^a, X^b])$ is problematic when evaluated at this solution, as all non-trivial representations of the Heisenberg algebra are necessarily infinite-dimensional and the trace of $\mathbb{1}$ is therefore illdefined: the operator $\mathbb{1}$ is not *trace class*. We will encounter the same issue in the case of Lie 2-algebra models. Recall, however, that we are not interested in the value of the action functional. We will first derive the equations of motion assuming our fields have finite norm and then continue the resulting equations to arbitrary Lie 2-algebra elements.

4.4 Solutions corresponding to quantized 2-plectic manifolds

As recalled above, we call a solution to the IKKT model a quantized symplectic manifold, if it is given in terms of quantized coordinate functions on \mathbb{R}^n , into which the symplectic manifold is embedded. Similarly, solutions to the 3-Lie algebra model of [9] were given by quantized coordinate functions that took values in a 3-Lie algebra. Again, for compact spaces, quantized embedding coordinates of the manifold in some Euclidean space were used.

In the case of Lie 2-algebra models, the coordinate functions should be replaced by the quantization of certain elementary 1-forms. Let us characterize these 1-forms in the following. For compact spaces, we should again consider their embedding in some \mathbb{R}^n and use the pull-back of the elementary 1-forms on \mathbb{R}^n along the embedding. It therefore suffices to characterize elementary one-forms on \mathbb{R}^n . There is a number of properties we would like these elementary 1-forms to have:

- (i) They should be as simple as possible.
- (ii) They cannot be exact, as exact forms are central in the Lie 2-algebras induced by 2-plectic structures.
- (iii) Just as with Cartesian coordinate functions on \mathbb{R}^n , the Hamiltonian vector field of the 1-forms should equal the derivative with respect to the Cartesian coordinates on \mathbb{R}^n .
- (iv) Under the reduction procedure outlined in section 3.4, they should reduce to coordinate functions on \mathbb{R}^{n-1} .

In Cartesian coordinates x^i on \mathbb{R}^n , the simplest 1-forms on \mathbb{R}^n that are not exact are given by

$$\xi^{ij} = x^{[i} \mathrm{d}x^{j]} \,, \tag{4.17}$$

and we have encountered these already in section 3.3. One can easily verify that (iv) on its own would also lead to (4.17). Moreover, on spaces \mathbb{R}^{3n} with canonical 2-plectic structure, these elementary 1-forms satisfy (iii).

Another requirement one might impose is on the quantization of elementary 1-forms: the correspondence principle (3.37) should hold exactly and should not receive any corrections to order $\mathcal{O}(\hbar^2)$.

Note that the Lie 2-algebras we obtain from a 2-plectic structure are not reduced, and we do not expect that the corresponding quantized Lie 2-algebra will be reduced. In discussing solutions, we therefore have to restrict ourselves to the cyclic and minimally invariant inner products. In both cases, we are interested in the same action,¹⁴

$$S_1 = \frac{1}{2} m_{ab} \langle X^a, X^b \rangle + \frac{1}{3} c_{abc} \langle X^a, \mu_2(X^b, X^c) \rangle + \frac{1}{4} \langle \mu_2(X^a, X^b), \mu_2(X^a, X^b) \rangle, \quad (4.18)$$

which, however, leads to different equations of motion. In the cyclic case, we have

$$m_{ab}w^b + \mu_2(w^b, \mu_2(w^b, w^a)) + c_{abc}\mu_2(w^b, w^c) = 0$$
 and $m_{ab}v^b = 0$, (4.19)

while in the minimally invariant case, we have

$$m_{ab}v^{b} + \frac{4}{3}c_{abc}\mu_{2}(w^{b}, v^{c}) + \frac{1}{2}\mu_{2}(w^{b}, \mu_{2}(w^{b}, v^{a})) + \frac{1}{2}\mu_{2}(w^{b}, \mu_{2}(v^{b}, w^{a})) = 0,$$

$$m_{ab}w^{b} - \frac{2}{3}c_{abc}\mu_{2}^{*}(v^{c}, v^{b}) + c_{abc}\mu_{2}(w^{b}, w^{c}) + \frac{1}{2}\mu_{2}^{*}(v^{b}, \mu_{2}(v^{b}, w^{a})) + \mu_{2}(w^{b}, \mu_{2}(w^{b}, w^{a})) = 0.$$

(4.20)

We now restrict to Lie 2-algebras that arise from the quantization of a Lie 2-algebra $\Pi_{M,\varpi}$ and impose the above mentioned requirement that for elementary functions and 1-forms, the correspondence principle (3.37) holds precisely without corrections to order $\mathcal{O}(\hbar^2)$. This implies that in equations (4.20), the terms containing the products

$$\mu_2: W \times V \to V$$
 and $\mu_2^*: V \times V \to W$ (4.21)

vanish on elementary 1-forms and equations (4.20) reduce to (4.19). We can therefore restrict our attention to the latter equations of motion.

4.5 Examples of quantized categorified Poisson manifolds as solutions

As a first example, we consider the quantization of $\Pi_{\mathbb{R}^3,\varpi}$, where ϖ is again the canonical volume form on \mathbb{R}^3 . Just as the Moyal plane was obtained from the undeformed IKKT model, we expect the quantization $\hat{\Pi}_{\mathbb{R}^3,\varpi}$ of $\Pi_{\mathbb{R}^3,\varpi}$ to arise from the action S_1 with m = c = 0. This is indeed the case: the quantization of the 1-forms $\xi_i = \frac{1}{2} \varepsilon_{ijk} x^i dx^k$ satisfy the following algebra

$$\mu_2(\hat{\xi}_i, \hat{\xi}_j) = -\mathrm{i}\hbar\varepsilon_{ijk}\mathrm{d}x^k\,,\tag{4.22}$$

where $\widehat{\mathrm{d}x^k}$ is central in $\hat{\Pi}_{\mathbb{R}^3,\varpi}$. Putting

$$w^{i} = \hat{\xi}_{i}$$
 and $v^{i} = 0, \quad i = 1, \dots, 3,$ (4.23)

 $^{^{14}}$ We were not able to use the additional terms in the action (4.5) in any sensible way to accommodate the desired solutions of quantized geometries; neither did they seem necessary.

we obtain a solution to (4.19), which we interpret as a quantization \mathbb{R}^3_{\hbar} of \mathbb{R}^3 as 2-plectic manifold.

Note that the solution of the IKKT model corresponding to the Moyal plane trivially extends to Cartesian products $\mathbb{R}^{2n}_{\theta} = \mathbb{R}^2_{\theta} \times \cdots \times \mathbb{R}^2_{\theta}$. The same holds here, and we obtain quantized 2-plectic manifolds $\mathbb{R}^{3n}_{h} = \mathbb{R}^3_{h} \times \cdots \times \mathbb{R}^3_{h}$.

Note also that as a special case to the above solution, we can use the subalgebra of $\hat{\Pi}_{\mathbb{R}^3,\varpi}$, which corresponds to the reduction to the fuzzy sphere as discussed in section 3.4. This yields a continuous foliation of quantized \mathbb{R}^3_h by fuzzy spheres, which is different to the discrete foliation given by the space \mathbb{R}^3_λ as introduced in [61].

As our second example, let us consider the quantization of the 2-plectic sphere S^3 . First, note that analogously to the case of the fuzzy sphere solution to the IKKT model, we should embed the 3-sphere into \mathbb{R}^4 and describe its quantization as a push-forward on elementary 1-forms on \mathbb{R}^4 . More specifically, we consider the 1-forms

$$\xi_{\mu\nu} := \frac{1}{2} \varepsilon_{\mu\nu\kappa\lambda} x^{\kappa} \mathrm{d}x^{\lambda} \,, \tag{4.24}$$

where x^{μ} , $\mu = 1, ..., 4$, are the embedding coordinates of $e : S^3 \hookrightarrow \mathbb{R}^4$, where $e(S^3) = \{||x|| = 1 \mid x \in \mathbb{R}^4\}$. The higher product π_2 on these elementary 1-forms is given by

$$\pi_2(\xi_{\mu\nu},\xi_{\kappa\lambda}) = \delta_{\nu\kappa}\xi_{\mu\lambda} - \delta_{\mu\kappa}\xi_{\nu\lambda} - \delta_{\nu\lambda}\xi_{\mu\kappa} + \delta_{\mu\lambda}\xi_{\nu\kappa} + \pi_1(R_{\mu\nu\kappa\lambda}), \qquad (4.25)$$

where

$$R_{\mu\nu\kappa\lambda} = \frac{1}{4} \left(\varepsilon_{\nu\kappa\lambda\rho} x^{\rho} x^{\mu} - \varepsilon_{\mu\kappa\lambda\rho} x^{\rho} x^{\nu} - \varepsilon_{\kappa\mu\nu\rho} x^{\rho} x^{\lambda} + \varepsilon_{\lambda\mu\nu\rho} x^{\rho} x^{\kappa} \right) .$$
(4.26)

Equation (4.25) shows that this Lie 2-algebra of elementary 1-forms is in fact a categorification of the Lie algebra $\mathfrak{so}(4)$, where the usual commutation relations hold up to the isomorphism $\pi_1(R_{\mu\nu\kappa\lambda})$.

Comparing again with the case of the fuzzy sphere arising in the IKKT model, we expect that the quantized 3-sphere arises in two different ways. First, a solution to S_1 is given in terms of the quantized 1-forms defined in (4.24) by

$$(w^{I}) = (\hat{\xi}_{12}, \hat{\xi}_{13}, \hat{\xi}_{14}, \hat{\xi}_{23}, \hat{\xi}_{24}, \hat{\xi}_{34})$$
 and $v^{I} = 0$, (4.27)

if we set the masses to

$$m_{IJ} = -4\hbar^2 \delta_{IJ} , \quad I, J = 1, \dots, 6 .$$
 (4.28)

Note that the index I should here be regarded as a multi-index I = ([mn]). Second, (4.27) is also a solution, if we tune the c_{IJK} to the structure constants of $\mathfrak{so}(4)$ in the representation categorified in (4.25). Explicitly, we have the following non-trivial entries:

$$c_{[124]} = i\hbar, \quad c_{[135]} = i\hbar, \quad c_{[236]} = i\hbar, \quad c_{[456]} = i\hbar.$$
 (4.29)

It is quite striking that quantized S^3 arises in the same manner in our Lie 2-algebra models as the fuzzy sphere arose in the IKKT model. As our last example, let us consider the Lie 2-algebra corresponding to a categorification of the Nappi-Witten algebra, which we interpreted as the Lie 2-algebra related to a five-dimensional Hpp-wave. We have nine elementary 1-forms,

 $(w^m) = (\hat{\xi}_1, \hat{\xi}_2, \hat{\xi}_3, \hat{\xi}_+^1, \hat{\xi}_+^2, \hat{\xi}_+^3, \hat{\xi}_-^1, \hat{\xi}_-^2, \hat{\xi}_-^3), \qquad (4.30)$

and their non-trivial products μ_2 read as

$$\mu_2(\hat{\xi}_i, \hat{\xi}_j) = \mathrm{i}\hbar\varepsilon_{ijk}\mathrm{d}x^k \,, \quad \mu_2(\hat{\xi}_i, \hat{\xi}_j^-) = -\mathrm{i}\hbar\varepsilon_{ijk}\hat{\xi}^k \qquad \text{and} \qquad \mu_2(\hat{\xi}_-^i, \hat{\xi}_-^j) = \mathrm{i}\hbar\varepsilon^{ij}{}_k\hat{\xi}_-^k \,. \tag{4.31}$$

The most general action S_1 to which (4.30) is a solution has the following mass parameters and cubic coupling terms:

$$m_{mn} = \operatorname{diag}(4\hbar^2, 4\hbar^2, 4\hbar^2, 0, 0, 0, -2i\hbar c_{789}, -2i\hbar c_{789}, -2i\hbar c_{789}),$$
(4.32)

$$c_{[ijk_{-}]} = -i\hbar\varepsilon_{ijk_{-}}, \quad c_{[ijk_{+}]} = c_{[ijk]} = c_{[ij_{-}k_{-}]} = c_{[i_{+}j_{-}k_{-}]} = 0,$$

while the remaining cubic couplings can be chosen arbitrarily. Here, indices i_+ run over 4, 5, 6 and indices i_- run over 7, 8, 9. Note that these background fields are very similar to those in (4.16) that gave rise to the Hpp-wave solution in the IKKT model.

5 Inhomogeneous Lie 2-algebra models

We now come to inhomogeneous Lie 2-algebra models, in which we have two kinds of fields $\{X^a\}$ and $\{Y^i\}$ taking values in V and W, respectively. This class of models includes the homogeneous models as those actions that are written in terms of sums $X^a + Y^a$. Therefore the inhomogeneous models can exhibit all the solutions we found in the previous section. We will start with an inhomogeneous Lie 2-algebra model that reduces for skeletal and strict Lie 2-algebras to zero-dimensional M2-brane models. We then consider a specific inhomogeneous Lie 2-algebra model that results from dimensionally reducing a higher gauge theory and analyze fluctuations around a special solution.

Note that inhomogeneous Lie 2-algebra models are also invariant under the inner Lie 2-algebra automorphisms discussed in section 4.2.

5.1 Dimensionally reduced M2-brane models

We showed in section 2.5 that Lie 2-algebras that are either skeletal or strict come with a real 3-algebra structure, where the ternary bracket is given by

$$[v_1, v_2, v_3] = -\mu_2(\mu_2^*(v_1, v_2), v_3) .$$
(5.1)

For μ_2^* to be non-trivial, we will have to work with the minimally invariant metric $\langle -, - \rangle_0$.

We can now write down inhomogeneous Lie 2-algebra models that make use of this ternary bracket and reduce to previously studied zero-dimensional models related to M2brane models. The action we are interested in reads as

$$S_{M2} = \frac{1}{6} \varepsilon^{ijk} \langle Y^i, \mu_2(Y^j, Y^k) \rangle_0 - \frac{1}{2} \langle \mu_2(Y^i, X^a), \mu_2(Y^i, X^a) \rangle_0 + \frac{i}{2} \langle \bar{\Psi}, \mu_2(\Gamma^i Y^i, \Psi) \rangle_0$$
(5.2)
$$- \frac{i}{4} \langle \bar{\Psi}, \mu_2(\mu_2^*(X^a, X^b), \Gamma_{ab}\Psi) \rangle_0 - \frac{1}{12} \langle \mu_2(\mu_2^*(X^a, X^b), X^c), \mu_2(\mu_2^*(X^a, X^b), X^c) \rangle_0 ,$$

where the scalars X^a , a = 1, ..., 8, and the spinors Ψ take values in V, while the scalars Y^i , i = 0, ..., 2, take values in W. Our spinor and Clifford algebra conventions are those of [2].

For skeletal or strict Lie 2-algebras, the action (5.2) equals that of a full dimensional reduction of the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ M2-brane models discussed in [38]. Our action then inherits $\mathcal{N} = 2$ supersymmetry from the 3-dimensional model.

If the ternary bracket (5.1) happens to be antisymmetric,¹⁵ we recover the 3-Lie algebra models that we discussed in the introduction. In particular, the models of [20, 21, 23] are obtained by putting $Y_i = 0$ and letting a = 0, ..., 10, otherwise one arrives at the model discussed in [9]. It is a trivial exercise to add deformation terms to (5.2) that are written in terms of 3-brackets.

Note that inhomogeneous Lie 2-algebra models reproducing the dimensionally fully reduced ABJM model can also be written down in a straightforward fashion.

To obtain interesting solutions to the model (5.2) one should either consider solutions with $Y_i \neq 0$ or solutions that do not arise from 2-plectic manifolds. Otherwise, the equations of motion are trivially satisfied. It is not clear how to interpret solutions that contain both nontrivial Y_i and X^a . We therefore refrain from going into any more detail at this point.

5.2 Background expansion for higher gauge theory

Recall from section 1.1 that expanding the action of the IKKT model around a solution corresponding to a noncommutative space yields essentially the action for Yang-Mills theory on that noncommutative space [7]. In particular, consider the action (1.2). A solution to this action is the Moyal space \mathbb{R}^{2n}_{θ} with coordinates satisfying $[\hat{x}^{\mu}, \hat{x}^{\nu}] = -i\theta^{\mu\nu}, \ \mu, \nu =$ $1, \ldots, 2n$. If we now expand around this solution by writing $X^{\mu} = \hat{x}^{\mu} + \hat{A}^{\mu}$ and observing that $\theta_{\mu\nu}[\hat{x}^{\nu}, \hat{f}] = \widehat{\partial_{\mu}f}$, we obtain noncommutative Yang-Mills theory on \mathbb{R}^{2n}_{θ} .

An attempt has been made to reproduce this observation in the context of quantized Nambu-Poisson manifolds using 3-Lie algebras in [9], but the construction seemed far less natural than in the IKKT case.

Let us now try to obtain field theories on quantized 2-plectic spaces by performing a background expansion. For this, we have to choose the kind of action we expect to reproduce. The most natural candidate here are higher BF-theories as discussed in [37].

For simplicity, we will consider higher BF theory on \mathbb{R}^3 . The field content consists of a 1-form A and a 2-form B. Usually, these take values in the vector spaces W and V, respectively, that form a strict Lie 2-algebra. Here, however, we immediately allow for a semistrict Lie 2-algebra, and neglect all the technical difficulties that come with a complete discussion of semistrict higher gauge theory, see [33] and appendix B. If the higher BF theory is supposed to describe a connective structure that captures the parallel transport of an extended object, we have to impose the fake curvature condition

$$0 = \mathcal{F} := F - \mu_1(B) := dA + \mu_2(A, A) - \mu_1(B) .$$
(5.3)

As usual in BF-theory, we also expect the 3-form curvature to vanish:

$$0 = H := dB + \mu_2(A, B) + \frac{1}{6}\mu_3(A, A, A), \qquad (5.4)$$

¹⁵Which is the case e.g. if the underlying real 3-algebra is A_4 .

where we extended the usual definition of the 3-form curvature H in higher gauge theory by a term $\mu_3(A, A, A)$, cf. [33]. Altogether, we arrive at the action

$$S_{\rm BF} = \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \langle \lambda_1, \mathcal{F} \rangle_0 + \langle \lambda_0, H \rangle_0 \,, \tag{5.5}$$

where λ_0 and λ_1 are 0- and 1-forms taking values in V and W, respectively.

To obtain a Lie 2-algebra model, we dimensionally reduce the action $S_{\rm BF}$ to a point. We are left with fields X_{ij} , i, j = 1, ..., 3, taking values in V and fields Y_i with values in W together with additional Lagrange multiplier fields λ_i and λ . Note that we should also twist the BF action by terms $2i\hbar\langle\lambda_i, \widehat{dx^i}\rangle_0$ and $i\hbar\langle\lambda, 1\rangle_0$. This can be easily seen by imagining writing down a BF theory on the Moyal plane; even in the Yang-Mills case we introduce such a twist, cf. (1.2). The total action reads as

$$S_{0d} = \varepsilon^{ijk} \langle \lambda_i, \mu_2(Y_j, Y_k) - \frac{1}{2} \mu_1(X_{jk}) \rangle_0 + 2i\hbar \langle \lambda_i, \widehat{dx^i} \rangle_0 + \varepsilon^{ijk} \langle \lambda, \frac{1}{2} \mu_2(Y_i, X_{jk}) + \frac{1}{6} \mu_3(Y_i, Y_j, Y_k) \rangle_0 - i\hbar \langle \lambda, \mathbb{1} \rangle_0 .$$

$$(5.6)$$

A solution to the corresponding equations of motion is given by elements of the semistrict Lie 2-algebra $\hat{\Pi}_{\mathbb{R}^3,\varpi}$ arising from the quantization of the Lie 2-algebra $\Pi_{\mathbb{R}^3,\varpi}$:

$$Y_i = \hat{\xi}_i, \quad X_{ij} = 0 \quad \text{and} \quad \lambda_i = \lambda = 0.$$
 (5.7)

We now observe that

$$\mathrm{d}x^i \wedge \pi_2(\xi_i, \alpha) = \mathrm{d}\alpha\,,\tag{5.8}$$

and therefore $\mu_2(\hat{\xi}_i, -)$ should be identified with a quantum derivation, at least on 1-forms. Consider the background field expansion

$$Y_i = \hat{\xi}_i + \hat{A}_i, \quad X_{ij} = 0 + \hat{B}_{ij},$$
 (5.9)

where \hat{A}_i and \hat{B}_{ij} take values in the obvious vector spaces contained in $\hat{\Pi}_{\mathbb{R}^3,\varpi}$. The action (5.6) becomes

$$S_{2\text{LBF}} = \varepsilon^{ijk} \langle \lambda_i, \hat{\mathcal{F}}_{jk} \rangle_0 + \varepsilon^{ijk} \langle \lambda, \hat{H}_{ijk} \rangle_0 , \qquad (5.10)$$

where we defined

$$\hat{\mathcal{F}}_{ij} = \mu_2(\hat{\xi}_i, \hat{A}_j) - \mu_2(\hat{\xi}_j, \hat{A}_i) + \mu_2(\hat{A}_i, \hat{A}_j) - \mu_1(\hat{B}_{ij}),
\hat{H}_{ijk} = \frac{1}{2}\mu_2(\hat{\xi}_{[i}, \hat{B}_{jk]}) + \frac{1}{2}\mu_2(\hat{A}_{[i}, \hat{B}_{jk]}) + \frac{1}{6}\mu_3(\hat{\xi}_i + \hat{A}_i, \hat{\xi}_j + \hat{A}_j, \hat{\xi}_k + \hat{A}_k) - i\hbar\hat{\mathbb{1}}.$$
(5.11)

It is interesting to note how the Lie 2-algebra $\Pi_{\mathbb{R}^3,\varpi}$ turned into a gauge Lie 2-algebra of higher BF-theory on a quantized 2-plectic space.

Recall that in the Lie 2-algebra arising from 2-plectic \mathbb{R}^3 , the higher product between functions and 1-forms, $\pi_2 : \Omega^1(\mathbb{R}^3) \times \mathcal{C}^\infty(\mathbb{R}^3) \to \mathcal{C}^\infty(\mathbb{R}^3)$, is trivial. We therefore have in the quantized case

$$\hat{H}_{ijk} = \frac{1}{6} \mu_3(\hat{\xi}_i + \hat{A}_i, \hat{\xi}_j + \hat{A}_j, \hat{\xi}_k + \hat{A}_k) + \mathcal{O}(\hbar^2) .$$
(5.12)

This interpretation is very close to the one used in [26]. There, the 3-form curvature H was identified in a 3-Lie algebra valued model with the product $[\hat{A}_i, \hat{A}_j, \hat{A}_k]$. Considering the 3-Lie algebra 2Mat(n) constructed in section 2.5, where the triple bracket of the 3-Lie algebra can be identified with the higher product μ_3 , our \hat{H} essentially matches that of [26].

5.3 Background expansion using an isomorphic Lie 2-algebra structure

As we saw in the previous section, the Lie 2-algebra $\mathcal{C}^{\infty}(M) \to \mathfrak{H}(M)$ that we obtained from a 2-plectic manifold M in section 3.2 is very restrictive. In particular, elements of Vhave no possibility of interacting via higher products with W. To remedy this, note that we can add the non-trivial product

$$\pi_2(f,\alpha) := -\iota_{X_\alpha} \mathrm{d}f \,, \quad f \in \mathcal{C}^\infty(M) \,, \; \alpha \in \mathfrak{H}(M) \,. \tag{5.13}$$

This additional product, however, violates the higher homotopy relation $\pi_1(\pi_2(\alpha, f)) = \pi_2(\alpha, \pi_1(f))$. To fix this, we modify $\pi_2 : \mathfrak{H}(M) \times \mathfrak{H}(M) \to \mathfrak{H}(M)$ as follows:

$$\pi_2(\alpha,\beta) := -\iota_{X_\alpha}\iota_{X_\beta}\varpi - d(\iota_{X_\alpha}\beta) + d(\iota_{X_\beta}\alpha), \quad \alpha,\beta \in \mathfrak{H}(M),$$
(5.14)

where we note that $\pi_2(\alpha, \beta)$ is indeed in $\mathfrak{H}(M)$. The products π_1 and π_3 remain unmodified:

$$\pi_1(f) := \mathrm{d}f \qquad \text{and} \qquad \pi_3(\alpha, \beta, \gamma) := -\iota_{X_\alpha}\iota_{X_\beta}\iota_{X_\gamma}\varpi \tag{5.15}$$

for $f \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(M)$ and $\alpha, \beta, \gamma \in \Omega^1(M)$. We will denote the resulting structure by $\tilde{\Pi}_{M,\varpi}$.

Instead of verifying all the higher homotopy relations (2.2) for $\Pi_{M,\varpi}$, we can prove a stronger statement: $\Pi_{M,\varpi}$ is isomorphic to the Lie 2-algebras $\Pi_{M,\varpi}$. This is easily seen by giving the explicit Lie 2-algebra homomorphism, cf. section 2.2:

$$\Psi_{-1} = \mathrm{id}, \quad \Psi_0 = \mathrm{id}, \quad \Psi_2(\alpha, \beta) = \iota_{X_\alpha}\beta - \iota_{X_\beta}\alpha . \tag{5.16}$$

Equations (2.7) then yield the higher products (5.13) and (5.14). The higher product μ_3 remains unmodified, as one readily verifies by direct computation using the identity $\iota_{[X_{\alpha}, X_{\beta}]} = \mathcal{L}_{X_{\alpha}} \iota_{X_{\beta}} - \iota_{X_{\beta}} \mathcal{L}_{X_{\alpha}}.$

As an example, let us briefly study the Lie 2-algebra $\Pi_{\mathbb{R}^3,\varpi}$ with 2-plectic form $\varpi = dx^1 \wedge dx^2 \wedge dx^3$. The Hamiltonian vector fields as well as π_1 and π_3 are listed in section 3.3. The formulas for the new products read as

$$\pi_2(f,\alpha) = -\varepsilon^{ijk} \partial_i f \partial_j \alpha_k ,$$

$$\pi_2(\alpha,\beta) = \varepsilon^{ijk} \left(\partial_i \alpha_k (\partial_j \beta_\ell - \partial_\ell \beta_j) + \partial_\ell (\alpha_i \partial_j \beta_k - \beta_i \partial_j \alpha_k) \right) dx^\ell .$$
(5.17)

For the constant and linear 1-forms dx^i and $\xi_i = \frac{1}{2} \varepsilon_{ijk} x^j dx^k$ we have

$$\pi_2(f, \mathrm{d}x^i) = 0, \quad \pi_2(f, \xi_i) = -\partial_i f, \quad \pi_2(\mathrm{d}x^i, \alpha) = \varepsilon^{ijk} \partial_\ell \partial_j x_k \mathrm{d}x^\ell, \quad \pi_2(\xi_i, \xi_j) = 0.$$
(5.18)

In particular, we see that the operator $\pi_2(\xi_i, f)$ can here be interpreted as a derivation on functions, while it lost its nice derivation property property on 1-forms.

To define a BF-theory via a background expansion using the Lie 2-algebra $\Pi_{\mathbb{R}^3,\varpi}$, we should consider the action (5.6) without the twist term $2i\hbar\langle\lambda_i, dx^i\rangle_0$. A classical configuration of this action is again (5.7) and we can follow the discussion of the previous section.

6 Conclusions

In this paper, we initiated a study of zero-dimensional field theories, in which the fields take values in a semistrict Lie 2-algebra, or, equivalently, a 2-term L_{∞} -algebra. These Lie 2-algebra models are a categorification of the IKKT matrix model, which is conjectured to provide a background independent formulation of string theory. In particular, Lie 2-algebra models contain the (bosonic part of the) IKKT model and all of its bosonic deformations.

We explored the various notions of inner products on Lie 2-algebras as well as the resulting structure of transposed products. Here, we made an observation concerning the connection between 3-algebras appearing in M2-brane models and categorified Lie algebras. Besides the established link between Lie 2-algebras and the 3-algebras of M2-brane models via differential crossed modules, we also showed that any skeletal Lie 2-algebra with inner product comes with a 3-algebra structure. Moreover, there is a class of reduced Lie 2-algebras, in which the higher product μ_3 can be identified with the 3-bracket of a 3-Lie algebra.

We also pointed out the interaction of inner Lie 2-algebra homomorphisms with the various inner products. This allowed us to examine the symmetries of Lie 2-algebra models, which are compatible with those expected from a dimensional reduction of semistrict higher gauge theory. This is to be compared with the IKKT model, where the symmetry algebra arises from a dimensional reduction of the gauge theory.

We divided the Lie 2-algebra models into two classes: homogeneous Lie 2-algebra models are defined in terms of a single class of fields that take values in the Lie 2-algebra. Inhomogeneous Lie 2-algebra models feature two types of fields, each living within one of the graded vector subspaces of the 2-term L_{∞} -algebra underlying the model.

Just as in the case of the IKKT model, where solutions to the classical equations of motion can be identified with quantized symplectic manifolds, the homogeneous Lie 2algebra models we studied have solutions that can be interpreted as quantized 2-plectic manifolds. While the quantization of 2-plectic manifolds is still not fully understood, it was straightforward to outline the expected features of such a quantization that are required for our purposes. In particular, it is expected that under quantization the Lie 2-algebra induced by the 2-plectic structure on a manifold is mapped to a Lie 2-algebra of quantum observables with this map being a Lie 2-algebra homomorphism to lowest order in a deformation parameter \hbar . As an example, we examined the Heisenberg Lie 2-algebra, which is contained in the Lie 2-algebra arising from the quantization of \mathbb{R}^3 . We gave a representation in terms of derived brackets on a 2-vector space.

The quantized symplectic manifolds most readily obtained as solutions in the IKKT model are the Moyal plane and the fuzzy sphere, as well as their Cartesian products. In the Lie 2-algebra models, we found solutions that correspond to the quantizations of \mathbb{R}^3 and S^3 , where the 2-plectic form was given by the canonical volume form on these spaces. Remarkably, these solutions appeared in complete analogy with the above mentioned solutions of the IKKT model.

We also studied solutions given by Lie 2-algebras that do not arise from 2-plectic manifolds. In particular, we considered the Nappi-Witten algebra, which can be regarded as linear Poisson structure on a four-dimensional Hpp-wave. This algebra gives a solution of a particular deformation of the IKKT model. We constructed a categorified analogue of the Nappi-Witten algebra corresponding to a five-dimensional Hpp-wave and again we found that it appears as a solution of our Lie 2-algebra models.

We were able to show that certain inhomogeneous Lie 2-algebra models reproduce previously considered zero-dimensional field theories that are related to M2-brane models. Furthermore, we considered Lie 2-algebra models that arise from a dimensional reduction of a semistrict higher BF-theory in three dimensions. These models contained again a quantization of \mathbb{R}^3 as a classical configuration, and expanding around this configuration, we obtained an action that can be interpreted as semistrict higher BF-theory on the quantized \mathbb{R}^3 . This is fully analogous to the case of the IKKT model, where it is known that expanding around a solution corresponding to a quantized symplectic manifold yields the action of Yang-Mills theory on this noncommutative space. Finally, we considered a Lie 2-algebra that is isomorphic to that obtained from the quantization of \mathbb{R}^3 , to demonstrate what is to be expected for a more general categorified correspondence principle.

Altogether, we conclude that Lie 2-algebra models are generalizations of the IKKT model that contain various other zero-dimensional models that were proposed in the context of M2-brane models. Moreover, many of the nice features of the IKKT model carry over to these Lie 2-algebra models.

One of our original motivations for studying Lie 2-algebra models was to explore the possibility of supersymmetric such models. This is particularly interesting, as there is more and more evidence that M2- and M5-brane models should be based on semistrict Lie 2-algebras, see e.g. [14, 62]. The reason for focusing on the zero-dimensional case instead of the three- and six-dimensional cases is that here the gauge structure severely simplifies. For a brief overview over the complications encountered in the higher dimensional case, see appendix B. The construction of supersymmetric Lie 2-algebra models corresponding to a dimensional reduction of six-dimensional superconformal models is clearly an issue that we plan to attack in future work. Moreover, recall that the IKKT model was connected to type IIB superstring theory via a Schwinger-Dyson equation for the Wilson loops [63]. It would be very interesting to study the corresponding equations for Wilson surfaces in our Lie 2-algebra models.

Further open questions arising from our work concern a potential use of Lie 2-algebras in the regularization of Nambu-Poisson sigma-models as well as the development of our naïve notion of quantization of 2-plectic manifolds to a full quantization. The latter problem would imply to extend our Lie 2-algebras to Poisson 2-algebras or, equivalently, Gerstenhaber algebras, in which also a categorified associative product between observables is realized.

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank Cedric Troessaert for discussions and the anonymous referee for an extraordinarily helpful report. PR was supported by Fondecyt grant #3120077. CS was supported by an EPSRC Career Acceleration Fellowship. The Centro de Estudios Cientfícos (CECS) is funded by the Chilean Government through the Centers of Excellence Base Financing Program of Conicyt.

A Useful definitions

Strong homotopy Lie algebras. An L_{∞} -algebra or strong homotopy Lie algebra is a graded vector space $L = \bigoplus_i L_i$ endowed with *n*-ary multilinear totally antisymmetric products $\mu_n, n \in \mathbb{N}^*$, of degree 2-n, that satisfy homotopy Jacobi identities, cf. [36, 57, 64]. These identities read as

$$\sum_{i+j=n} \sum_{\sigma} \chi(\sigma; x_1, \dots, x_n) (-1)^{i \cdot j} \mu_{j+1}(\mu_i(x_{\sigma(1)}, \cdots, x_{\sigma(i)}), x_{\sigma(i+1)}, \cdots, x_{\sigma(i+j)}) = 0 \quad (A.1)$$

for all $n \in \mathbb{N}^*$, where the sum over σ is taken over all (i, j) unshuffles. Recall that a permutation σ of i + j elements is called an (i, j)-unshuffle, if the first i and the last j images of σ are ordered: $\sigma(1) < \cdots < \sigma(i)$ and $\sigma(i + 1) < \cdots < \sigma(i + j)$. Moreover, the graded Koszul sign $\chi(\sigma; x_1, \cdots, x_n), x_i \in L$ is defined via the equation

$$x_1 \wedge \dots \wedge x_n = \chi(\sigma; x_1, \dots, x_n) \, x_{\sigma(1)} \wedge \dots \wedge x_{\sigma(n)} \tag{A.2}$$

in the free graded algebra $\wedge(x_1, \dots, x_n)$, where \wedge is considered graded antisymmetric.

Note that for elements of L which do not have a definite grading, the above relations have to be resolved to elements of L with homogeneous grading, using linearity of the maps. Note also that we shall denote the grading of an object x by $\tilde{x} \in \mathbb{Z}$. For example, we have $\tilde{x} = i$ for $x \in L_i$.

Strong homotopy Lie algebras that are concentrated in degrees $-n + 1, \ldots, 0$, i.e. $L_i = \emptyset$ for $i \notin [-n + 1, \ldots, 0]$, are categorically equivalent to semistrict Lie *n*-algebras.

Nambu-Poisson structures. A Nambu-Poisson structure [65, 66] on a smooth manifold \mathcal{M} is an *n*-ary, totally antisymmetric multilinear map $\{-, \ldots, -\} : \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\mathcal{M})^{\wedge n} \to \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\mathcal{M})$, which satisfies the generalized Leibniz rule

$$\{f_1 f_2, f_3, \dots, f_{n+1}\} = f_1 \{f_2, \dots, f_{n+1}\} + \{f_1, \dots, f_{n+1}\} f_2$$
(A.3)

as well as the fundamental identity

$$\{f_1, \dots, f_{n-1}, \{g_1, \dots, g_n\}\} = \{\{f_1, \dots, f_{n-1}, g_1\}, \dots, g_n\} + \dots + \{g_1, \dots, \{f_1, \dots, f_{n-1}, g_n\}\}$$
(A.4)

for all $f_i, g_i \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\mathcal{M})$. A manifold \mathcal{M} endowed with such a Nambu *n*-bracket giving rise to a Nambu-Poisson algebra is called a Nambu-Poisson manifold. Under certain conditions, 2-plectic structures give rise to ternary Nambu-Poisson structures [42].

n-Lie algebras. An *n*-Lie algebra¹⁶ [67] is a vector space \mathcal{A} endowed with an *n*-ary, totally antisymmetric and multilinear map $[-, \dots, -] : \mathcal{A}^{\wedge n} \to \mathcal{A}$ that satisfies the *funda-mental identity*:

$$[a_1, \ldots, a_{n-1}, [b_1, \ldots, b_n]] = [[a_1, \ldots, a_{n-1}, b_1], \ldots, b_n] + \dots + [b_1, \ldots, [a_1, \ldots, a_{n-1}, b_n]]$$
(A.5)

¹⁶Which is not to be confused with a Lie n-algebra arising in the categorification of Lie algebras.

for all $a_i, b_i \in \mathcal{A}$. Note that Nambu-Poisson algebras are particular *n*-Lie algebras, and it has been proposed that Nambu-Poisson structures should be quantized in terms of *n*-Lie algebras, cf. [25] and references therein.

Note that n-Lie algebras come with a Lie algebra of inner derivations, which are given by linear combinations of the maps

$$D(a_1, \dots, a_{n-1}) \triangleright x := [a_1, \dots, a_{n-1}, x],$$
(A.6)

where $a_i, x \in \mathcal{A}$. The commutator of inner derivations closes on inner derivations because of the fundamental identity (A.5).

We can endow an n-Lie algebra with a metric, which has to be invariant under the action of inner derivations. In the case of a 3-Lie algebra, this metric induces a metric on the vector space of inner derivations, which is in general indefinite and different from the Killing form.

The first of the recently studied M2-brane models, the Bagger-Lambert-Gustavsson (BLG) model [2, 3], has a gauge structure that is based on a 3-Lie algebra. This 3-Lie algebra comes with a positive definite metric on the vector space forming the 3-Lie algebra, which induces a metric of split signature on the inner derivations.

Generalized 3-algebras. Because there is essentially only one finite-dimensional 3-Lie algebras with positive definite invariant metric, various generalizations have been proposed. First, there are the hermitian 3-algebras that are based on a complex vector space and that underlie the ABJM M2-brane model [4, 39]. Second, there are the real 3-algebras, which are relaxed versions of 3-Lie algebras in that their 3-bracket is antisymmetric only in the first two slots [38]. Both types of 3-algebras can be encoded in terms of Lie algebras and certain representations [40], and therefore they form differential crossed modules [14]. Also, as shown in the text, skeletal Lie 2-algebras with inner product come naturally with a generalized 3-algebra structure.

B Gauge symmetry in semistrict higher gauge theory

While semistrict higher gauge theory has only been developed partially, an attempt to capture its local gauge structure has been made in [33]. Below, we will give a rough, quick review of this construction. This serves two purposes: first, we can easily show that it reduces to the Lie 2-algebra homomorphisms describing the symmetries of our Lie 2-algebra models. Second, it demonstrates that it is considerably simpler to study Lie 2-algebra models than to study actual semistrict higher gauge theories.

Let us group the fields we are interested in working with into doublets $(\phi, \Phi) \in \Omega^p(M, W) \times \Omega^{p+1}(M, V)$, where M indicates the manifold they live on and small and capital letters will always indicate V- or W-valued fields respectively. We will refer to the *degree* of the doublet as the order of the W-valued form, in this case p. Let us indicate a connection doublet by $(a, A) \in \Omega^1(M, W) \times \Omega^2(M, V)$. We can define the curvature of

these fields as the doublet $(f, F) \in \Omega^2(M, W) \times \Omega^3(M, V)$:

$$f = da + \frac{1}{2}\mu_2(a, a) - \mu_1(A), \qquad (B.1)$$

$$F = dA + \mu_2(a, A) - \frac{1}{6}\mu_3(a, a, a) .$$
 (B.2)

The (f, F) doublet can be easily seen to satisfy the *Bianchi identities*

$$df + \mu_2(a, f) + \mu_1(F) = 0, \qquad (B.3)$$

$$dF + \mu_2(a, F) - \mu_2(f, A) + \frac{1}{2}\mu_3(a, a, f) = 0.$$
 (B.4)

In analogy to ordinary gauge theory, one would like the Bianchi identities to be given by the requirement that Df = 0 = DF, where D is the *covariant derivative* with respect to the same connection (a, A). This requirement allows one to define the action of D on a generic field doublet (ϕ, Φ) of order p as

$$D\phi = d\phi + \mu_2(a,\phi) + (-1)^p \mu_1(\Phi), \qquad (B.5)$$

$$D\Phi = d\Phi + \mu_2(a, \Phi) - (-1)^p \mu_2(\phi, A) + \frac{(-1)^p}{2} \mu_3(a, a, \phi), \qquad (B.6)$$

forming the (p+1)-degree doublet $(D\phi, D\Phi)$. The next step is to define gauge transformations in the semistrict Lie 2-algebra setting. These have to live in the set of automorphisms of the Lie 2-algebra and are expected to satisfy a generalization of the Maurer-Cartan equation $d(g^{-1}dg) + (g^{-1}dg) \wedge (g^{-1}dg) = 0$. It is argued in [33] that the easiest way to generalize traditional gauge theory also makes use of a flat connection doublet (σ, Σ) , which roughly speaking keeps track of how gauge group elements vary with respect to the base manifold coordinates. Overall, the semistrict Lie 2-algebra 1-gauge transformations are defined in [33] as the following set of ingredients:

- (i) a map $g \in Map(M, Aut(L))$, i.e. a set (g_0, g_{-1}, g_2) satisfying the requirements elucidated in section 2.2;
- (ii) a flat connection doublet (σ, Σ) :

$$d\sigma + \frac{1}{2}\mu_2(\sigma, \sigma) - \mu_1(\Sigma) = 0, \qquad (B.7a)$$

$$d\Sigma + \mu_2(\sigma, \Sigma) - \frac{1}{6}\mu_3(\sigma, \sigma, \sigma) = 0 ; \qquad (B.7b)$$

(iii) an element $\tau \in \Omega^1(M, \operatorname{Hom}(W, V))$ satisfying

$$d\tau(w) + \mu_2(\sigma, \tau(w)) - \mu_2(w, \Sigma) + \frac{1}{2}\mu_3(\sigma, \sigma, w) + \tau \left(\mu_2(\sigma, w) + \mu_1(\tau(w))\right) = 0 .$$
(B.7c)

Note that equation (B.7a) is just the vanishing fake curvature condition as we know it from strict higher gauge theory, while equation (B.7c) is referred to as the 2-Maurer-Cartan equation in [33]. Indeed, after introducing a τ -dependent term in the definition of the action of the flat connection, for instance

$$g_0^{-1} dg_0(w) - \mu_2(\sigma, w) - \mu_1(\tau(w)) = 0$$
(B.8)

for the W part of the automorphism g, one can satisfy the W sector of the Maurer-Cartan equation (and analogously for the V-part). Because of the non-vanishing Jacobiator in the semistrict set-up, without τ this is normally not possible unless one imposes a further condition by hand.

Apart from equation (B.8) and its V-sector analogue, there is a further condition of compatibility for τ , so that the set of homomorphism rules of section 2.2 are still satisfied for g — the interested reader can find all the details for this construction in [33].

Now, to see how the above defined gauge transformations act on fields, one requires that, for a given connection doublet (a, A), the covariant derivatives D from (B.5) and (B.6) "pull through" all the elements that make up the transformation. That is, if we indicate the full 1-gauge transformation by $(g, \sigma, \Sigma, \tau)$, one requires the derivatives D to act on gauge transformed field doublets $(g \triangleright \phi, g \triangleright \Phi)$ as defined in (B.5) and (B.6), but treating all the components g, σ, Σ and τ as covariantly constant. In this way one obtains for connection doublets (a, A) the following action of 1-gauge transformations:

$$g \triangleright a = g_0(a - \sigma), \tag{B.9}$$

$$g \triangleright A = g_{-1}(A - \Sigma + \tau(a - \sigma)) - \frac{1}{2}g_2(a - \sigma, a - \sigma), \qquad (B.10)$$

so that its covariant derivative, or curvature doublet $(f, F) \equiv (Da, DA)$ transforms as

$$g \triangleright f = g_0(f) \,, \tag{B.11}$$

$$g \triangleright F = g_{-1}(F - \tau(f)) + g_2(a - \sigma, f)$$
 (B.12)

Similarly one can define *canonical* field doublets (ϕ, Φ) , of degree p, as those that transform as

$$g \triangleright \phi = g_0(\phi), \tag{B.13}$$

$$g \rhd \Phi = g_{-1}(\Phi - (-1)^p \tau(\phi)) + (-1)^p g_2(a - \sigma, \phi) .$$
 (B.14)

Its covariant derivatives then transform as

$$g \triangleright D\phi = g_0(D\phi), \tag{B.15}$$

$$g \rhd D\Phi = g_{-1}(D\Phi + (-1)^p \tau(D\phi)) - (-1)^p g_2(a - \sigma, D\phi) + (-1)^p g_2(Da, \phi) .$$
(B.16)

The obvious thing to notice here is that while in the W sector everything transforms in a "nice" way, that is $\phi \to g_0(\phi)$ and $D\phi \to g_0(D\phi)$, the V sector looks a lot more involved. When constructing actions, these will be based on some inner product that will be invariant under automorphisms of the Lie 2-algebra and therefore under the transformation corresponding to (g_0, g_{-1}) . In this sense it would be very easy to identify and construct gauge invariant actions if covariant derivatives and curvatures transformed as $D\Phi \to g_{-1}(D\Phi)$ also in the V sector of actions. Interestingly this can be achieved: the Lie 2-algebra can be gauge rectified¹⁷ by a pair of fields (λ, ρ) , where $\lambda \in \Omega^0(M, \operatorname{Hom}(W \wedge W, V))$ and

¹⁷It has not been shown whether a pair (λ, ρ) of gauge rectifiers can always be found, for any Lie 2-algebra.

 $\rho \in \Omega^1(M, \operatorname{Hom}(W, V))$, which have special gauge transformation properties. The products μ_2 and μ_3 can then be corrected by λ so that the rectified products $\mu_i^{(\lambda)}$ will transform as $g \triangleright \mu_i^{(\lambda)}(\ldots) = g_\alpha(\mu_i^{(\lambda)}(\ldots))$, where $\alpha = 0, -1$ according to where μ_i maps to. Similarly field doublets can be rectified, as well as the definition of the covariant derivative, resulting in all fields and covariant derivatives thereof transforming simply by g_0 or g_{-1} actions on the objects themselves (e.g. $D^{(\lambda,\rho)}\Phi^{(\lambda,\rho)} \to g_{-1}(\mu_i^{(\lambda)}(\ldots))$). This means that for actions constructed via a g_0, g_{-1} invariant inner product, any terms involving rectified canonical field doublets, covariant derivatives thereof and Lie 2-algebra products $\mu_i^{(\lambda)}$ will be automatically gauge invariant. Moreover, the rectified products $\mu_i^{(\lambda)}(\ldots)$ still form a Lie 2-algebra. To see the details of this procedure we again refer to [33].

Returning to the gauge transformation setup, upon reduction to zero dimensions all the total derivatives disappear and therefore the auxiliary σ , Σ and τ can all be set to zero. Also, we cannot talk about field doublets anymore, since all objects we will be considering are of order 0, whether they are valued in W or in V. This simplifies matters considerably, as we can now say that the gauge transformations of $w \in W$ and $v \in V$ are given by

$$g \triangleright w = g_0(w)$$
 and $g \triangleright v = g_{-1}(v)$, (B.17)

while covariant derivation reduces to

$$Dw = \mu_2(a, w)$$
 and $Dv = \mu_2(a, v)$, (B.18)

for a 0-degree field $a \in W$. We set (g_0, g_{-1}, g_2) as in 4.2 to:

$$g_0(w) := w + \mu_2(\epsilon, w), \quad g_{-1}(v) := v + \mu_2(\epsilon, v), \quad g_2(w_1, w_2) := \mu_3(\epsilon, w_1, w_2), \quad (B.19)$$

to first order in the gauge parameter $\epsilon \in W$. It then follows from the homomorphism rules that covariant derivatives transform in the desired way:

$$g \triangleright Dw = g_0(Dw) = \mu_2(g \triangleright a, g \triangleright w) = \mu_2(g_0(a), g_0(w)),$$
(B.20)

$$g \triangleright Dv = g_1(Dv) = \mu_2(g \triangleright a, g \triangleright v) = \mu_2(g_0(a), g_{-1}(v)), \quad (B.21)$$

as expected. Indeed, the homomorphism rules themselves guarantee that all the 2-algebra products on w, v also transform simply by an overall g_{α} , that is $\mu_i(\ldots) \to g_{\alpha}\mu_i(\ldots)$, for $\alpha = 0, -1$ according to the grading of μ_i . In other words, for zero-dimensional reduced actions, if based on a $\mu_2(w, -)$ invariant inner product, any terms involving the 2-algebra structures are automatically gauge invariant, without the need to introduce any rectifiers.

Open Access. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

References

- N. Ishibashi, H. Kawai, Y. Kitazawa and A. Tsuchiya, A large-N reduced model as superstring, Nucl. Phys. B 498 (1997) 467 [hep-th/9612115] [INSPIRE].
- J. Bagger and N. Lambert, Gauge symmetry and supersymmetry of multiple M2-branes, Phys. Rev. D 77 (2008) 065008 [arXiv:0711.0955] [INSPIRE].
- [3] A. Gustavsson, Algebraic structures on parallel M2-branes, Nucl. Phys. B 811 (2009) 66 [arXiv:0709.1260] [INSPIRE].
- [4] O. Aharony, O. Bergman, D.L. Jafferis and J. Maldacena, N = 6 superconformal Chern-Simons-matter theories, M2-branes and their gravity duals, JHEP 10 (2008) 091
 [arXiv:0806.1218] [INSPIRE].
- [5] P. Di Francesco, P.H. Ginsparg and J. Zinn-Justin, 2D Gravity and random matrices, Phys. Rept. 254 (1995) 1 [hep-th/9306153] [INSPIRE].
- [6] H. Aoki et al., IIB matrix model, Prog. Theor. Phys. Suppl. 134 (1999) 47 [hep-th/9908038]
 [INSPIRE].
- H. Aoki et al., Noncommutative Yang-Mills in IIB matrix model, Nucl. Phys. B 565 (2000) 176 [hep-th/9908141] [INSPIRE].
- [8] D.E. Berenstein, J.M. Maldacena and H.S. Nastase, Strings in flat space and pp waves from N = 4 super Yang-Mills, JHEP 04 (2002) 013 [hep-th/0202021] [INSPIRE].
- J. DeBellis, C. Sämann and R.J. Szabo, Quantized Nambu-Poisson manifolds in a 3-Lie algebra reduced model, JHEP 04 (2011) 075 [arXiv:1012.2236] [INSPIRE].
- [10] H. Steinacker, Emergent geometry and gravity from matrix models: an introduction, Class. Quant. Grav. 27 (2010) 133001 [arXiv:1003.4134] [INSPIRE].
- B. Zwiebach, Closed string field theory: quantum action and the B-V master equation, Nucl. Phys. B 390 (1993) 33 [hep-th/9206084] [INSPIRE].
- [12] H. Kajiura and J. Stasheff, Homotopy algebras inspired by classical open-closed string field theory, Commun. Math. Phys. 263 (2006) 553 [math/0410291] [INSPIRE].
- [13] C. Hofman and J.-S. Park, Topological open membranes, hep-th/0209148 [INSPIRE].
- [14] S. Palmer and C. Sämann, M-brane models from non-abelian gerbes, JHEP 07 (2012) 010
 [arXiv:1203.5757] [INSPIRE].
- [15] H. Sati, U. Schreiber and J. Stasheff, L_{∞} algebra connections and applications to String- and Chern-Simons n-transport, arXiv:0801.3480 [INSPIRE].
- [16] J.C. Baez and J. Huerta, An invitation to higher gauge theory, arXiv:1003.4485 [INSPIRE].
- [17] C. Sämann and M. Wolf, Non-abelian tensor multiplet equations from twistor space, arXiv:1205.3108 [INSPIRE].
- [18] C. Sämann and M. Wolf, Six-dimensional superconformal field theories from principal 3-bundles over twistor space, arXiv:1305.4870 [INSPIRE].
- [19] M. Sato, Covariant formulation of M-theory I, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 24 (2009) 5019
 [arXiv:0902.1333] [INSPIRE].
- [20] K. Lee and J.-H. Park, Three-algebra for supermembrane and two-algebra for superstring, JHEP 04 (2009) 012 [arXiv:0902.2417] [INSPIRE].

- [21] M. Sato, Covariant formulation of M-theory II, arXiv:0902.4102 [INSPIRE].
- [22] M. Sato, Model of M-theory with eleven matrices, JHEP 07 (2010) 026 [arXiv:1003.4694]
 [INSPIRE].
- [23] K. Furuuchi and D. Tomino, Supersymmetric reduced models with a symmetry based on Filippov algebra, JHEP 05 (2009) 070 [arXiv:0902.2041] [INSPIRE].
- [24] J.-H. Park and C. Sochichiu, Taking off the square root of Nambu-Goto action and obtaining Filippov-Lie algebra gauge theory action, Eur. Phys. J. C 64 (2009) 161 [arXiv:0806.0335]
 [INSPIRE].
- [25] J. DeBellis, C. Sämann and R.J. Szabo, Quantized Nambu-Poisson manifolds and n-Lie algebras, J. Math. Phys. 51 (2010) 122303 [arXiv:1001.3275] [INSPIRE].
- [26] C.-S. Chu and G.S. Sehmbi, D1-strings in large RR 3-form flux, quantum Nambu geometry and M5-branes in C-field, J. Phys. A 45 (2012) 055401 [arXiv:1110.2687] [INSPIRE].
- [27] S. Mukhi and C. Papageorgakis, M2 to D2, JHEP 05 (2008) 085 [arXiv:0803.3218]
 [INSPIRE].
- [28] F. Cantrijn, A. Ibort and M. de Leon, On the geometry of multisymplectic manifolds, J. Austral. Math. Soc. 66 (1999) 303.
- [29] J.C. Baez, A.E. Hoffnung and C.L. Rogers, Categorified symplectic geometry and the classical string, Commun. Math. Phys. 293 (2010) 701 [arXiv:0808.0246] [INSPIRE].
- [30] D. Roytenberg, On weak Lie 2-algebras, in: XXVI Workshop on Geometrical Methods in Physics 2007, P. Kielanowski et al. eds., AIP Conf. Proc. 956 (2007) 180 [arXiv:0712.3461].
- [31] J.C. Baez and A.S. Crans, Higher-Dimensional Algebra VI: Lie 2-Algebras, Theor. Appl. Categor. 12 (2004) 492 [math/0307263] [INSPIRE].
- [32] J.C. Baez, Higher Yang-Mills theory, hep-th/0206130 [INSPIRE].
- [33] R. Zucchini, AKSZ models of semistrict higher gauge theory, JHEP 03 (2013) 014
 [arXiv:1112.2819] [INSPIRE].
- [34] M. Kontsevich, Feynman diagrams and low-dimensional topology, Birkhäuser, Boston U.S.A. (1992), pg. 173.
- [35] K. Igusa, Graph cohomology and Kontsevich cycles, math/0303157 [INSPIRE].
- [36] M. Markl, S. Shnider and J. Stasheff, Operads in Algebra, Topology and Physics (Mathematical Surveys and Monographs), American Mathematical Society, Providence U.S.A. (2007).
- [37] J.F. Martins and A. Mikovic, Lie crossed modules and gauge-invariant actions for 2-BF theories, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 15 (2011) 1059 [arXiv:1006.0903] [INSPIRE].
- [38] S.A. Cherkis and C. Sämann, Multiple M2-branes and generalized 3-Lie algebras, Phys. Rev. D 78 (2008) 066019 [arXiv:0807.0808] [INSPIRE].
- [39] J. Bagger and N. Lambert, Three-algebras and N = 6 Chern-Simons gauge theories, Phys. Rev. D 79 (2009) 025002 [arXiv:0807.0163] [INSPIRE].
- [40] P. de Medeiros, J. Figueroa-O'Farrill, E. Mendez-Escobar and P. Ritter, On the Lie-algebraic origin of metric 3-algebras, Commun. Math. Phys. 290 (2009) 871 [arXiv:0809.1086]
 [INSPIRE].

- [41] H. Awata, M. Li, D. Minic and T. Yoneya, On the quantization of Nambu brackets, JHEP 02 (2001) 013 [hep-th/9906248] [INSPIRE].
- [42] P. Gautheron, Some remarks concerning Nambu mechanics, Lett. Math. Phys. 37 (1996) 103.
- [43] C.L. Rogers, Courant algebroids from categorified symplectic geometry, arXiv:1001.0040 [INSPIRE].
- [44] D. Fiorenza, C.L. Rogers and U. Schreiber, L_{∞} algebras of local observables from higher prequantum bundles, arXiv:1304.6292.
- [45] C. Sämann and R.J. Szabo, Groupoids, loop spaces and quantization of 2-plectic manifolds, Rev. Math. Phys. 25 (2013) 1330005 [arXiv:1211.0395] [INSPIRE].
- [46] S. Palmer and C. Sämann, Constructing generalized self-dual strings, JHEP 10 (2011) 008 [arXiv:1105.3904] [INSPIRE].
- [47] C.-S. Chu and D.J. Smith, Towards the quantum geometry of the m5-brane in a constant C-field from multiple membranes, JHEP 04 (2009) 097 [arXiv:0901.1847] [INSPIRE].
- [48] N. Seiberg and E. Witten, String theory and noncommutative geometry, JHEP 09 (1999) 032 [hep-th/9908142] [INSPIRE].
- [49] C. Sämann and R.J. Szabo, Groupoid quantization of loop spaces, PoS(CORFU2011)046 [arXiv:1203.5921] [INSPIRE].
- [50] M. Blau, J.M. Figueroa-O'Farrill and G. Papadopoulos, *Penrose limits, supergravity and brane dynamics, Class. Quant. Grav.* **19** (2002) 4753 [hep-th/0202111] [INSPIRE].
- [51] P. Ševera and A. WEinstein, Poisson geometry with a 3 form background, Prog. Theor. Phys. Suppl. 144 (2001) 145 [math/0107133] [INSPIRE].
- [52] F. Petalidou, On the geometric quantization of twisted Poisson manifolds, J. Math. Phys. 48 (2007) 083502 [arXiv:0704.2989] [INSPIRE].
- [53] D. Mylonas, P. Schupp and R.J. Szabo, Membrane σ-models and Quantization of Non-Geometric Flux Backgrounds, JHEP 09 (2012) 012 [arXiv:1207.0926] [INSPIRE].
- [54] J. Nuiten, Cohomological quantization of local prequantum boundary field theory, MSc Thesis, Utrecht University, Utrecht The Netherlands (2013), http://dspace.library.uu.nl/handle/1874/282756.
- [55] C.L. Rogers, Higher symplectic geometry, arXiv:1106.4068 [INSPIRE].
- [56] T. Voronov, Higher derived brackets and homotopy algebras, J. Pure Appl. Alg. 202 (2005) 133 [math/0304038].
- [57] T. Lada and J. Stasheff, Introduction to SH Lie algebras for physicists, Int. J. Theor. Phys. 32 (1993) 1087 [hep-th/9209099] [INSPIRE].
- [58] T. Banks, W. Fischler, S. Shenker and L. Susskind, M theory as a matrix model: a conjecture, Phys. Rev. D 55 (1997) 5112 [hep-th/9610043] [INSPIRE].
- [59] Y. Kimura, Noncommutative gauge theories on fuzzy sphere and fuzzy torus from matrix model, Prog. Theor. Phys. 106 (2001) 445 [hep-th/0103192] [INSPIRE].
- [60] S. Iso, Y. Kimura, K. Tanaka and K. Wakatsuki, Noncommutative gauge theory on fuzzy sphere from matrix model, Nucl. Phys. B 604 (2001) 121 [hep-th/0101102] [INSPIRE].
- [61] A. Hammou, M. Lagraa and M. Sheikh-Jabbari, Coherent state induced star product on R_{λ}^3 and the fuzzy sphere, Phys. Rev. D 66 (2002) 025025 [hep-th/0110291] [INSPIRE].

- [62] S. Palmer and C. Sämann, Six-dimensional (1,0) superconformal models and higher gauge theory, J. Math. Phys. 54 (2013) 113509 [arXiv:1308.2622] [INSPIRE].
- [63] M. Fukuma, H. Kawai, Y. Kitazawa and A. Tsuchiya, String field theory from IIB matrix model, Nucl. Phys. B 510 (1998) 158 [hep-th/9705128] [INSPIRE].
- [64] T. Lada and M. Markl, Strongly homotopy Lie algebras, Commun. Alg. 23 (1995) 2147
 [hep-th/9406095] [INSPIRE].
- [65] Y. Nambu, Generalized Hamiltonian dynamics, Phys. Rev. D 7 (1973) 2405 [INSPIRE].
- [66] L. Takhtajan, On foundation of the generalized Nambu mechanics (second version), Commun. Math. Phys. 160 (1994) 295 [hep-th/9301111] [INSPIRE].
- [67] V.T. Filippov, n-Lie algebras, Sib. Mat. Zh. 26 (1985) 126.